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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TRREEEEENRNE DN

To Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby present
the results of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Operating Results

During the year, the Group recorded a revenue in the amount of
approximately HK$7,399,000 (2014: HK$37,261,000), representing
a decrease of 80% as compared to the last year. The Group
commenced its money lending segment and generated revenue in
the second half of year. However, the Group's revenue was mainly
derived from the sales of food and beverages business segment
and the exploration and production segment did not generate any

revenue to the Group.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company in the amount of approximately HK$1,281,436,000,
compared to a loss of approximately HK$36,654,000 during the last
year. The increase in loss was mainly due to the impairment loss of
(1) intangible assets and (2) exploration and evaluation assets of the
Group’s exploration and production segment in the amounts of
HK$1,057,000,000 and HK$256,000,000 respectively. Loss per
share attributable to the owners of the Company was 13.48 HK
cents (2014: 0.42 HK cents).

Business Review

Exploration and Production Segment

The Group's wholly-owned subsidiary, Totalbuild Investments
Group (Hong Kong) Limited and its subsidiaries (“Totalbuild
Investments Group”) entered into petroleum contract with China
National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC") for the drilling,
exploration, exploitation and production of oil and/or natural gas
within the specified site located in North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin,
Xinjiang, PRC (the “Petroleum Contract”). The term of the
Petroleum Contract is for a term of 30 years commencing 1 June
2009 (the “Kashi Project”).

In June 2015, the Group commenced legal actions against the
vendor of Totalbuild Investments Group, as further disclosed in the
section headed “Litigation” in this report.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
ITERETHEEEEN RN

Under the Petroleum Contract, the Group shall apply its appropriate
and advanced technology and management expertise and assign
its competent experts to perform exploration, development, and
production of natural gas and/or oil within the site. Under the
Petroleum Contract, in the event that any oil field and/or gas field is
discovered within the site, the development costs shall be borne by
CNPC and the Group in the proportion of 51% and 49%,

respectively.

According to the Petroleum Contract, the exploration period covers
6 years. The managements have devoted much of its resources

during the period in exploration and research studies.

The development period of any oil/gas field will start from the date
of the completion of the Overall Development Program ("ODP").
ODP is a document that is required to be approved by the relevant
government authorities before the development can commence.
ODP comprises a formal development engineering plan, backed up
by survey results and relevant studies, together with a full economic
analysis and time schedule of the development operations.
However, there was delay in finalizing the ODP documentation and
the preparation of formal reserve report. The production period
should start immediately after relevant government approval on
ODP is obtained.

Despite numerous reminders and enormous efforts of the
management during the period under review, up to the date of this
report, no Gas Sale Agreement (“GSA") has been signed with
CNPC, and the ODP which signifies the transition from exploration
period into the development period of Kashi Project is still being
prepared. The required reserve report on the cooperation site has
been submitted to PRC government for approval. In March 2015,
the Group has issued formal application to CNPC to apply for a
two-year extension of the exploration period of Kashi Project
beyond the original deadline of 31 May 2015, as the exploration
efforts in the cooperation site has not been completed. As of the
date of this report, the Group has not received formal notice of
extension from CNPC. The Group will continue to use its best
efforts to make progress on Kashi Project and will seek legal advice

with the view to upholding its right if and when appropriate.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TRREEEEENRNE DN

Since the acquisition of Totalbuild Investments Group, pilot
productions were carried out at the site. 142,820,000 (2014:
202,670,000) cubic meters of gas was extracted during the year.
The information obtained from research and pilot production will
form part of the information to be contained in the application of
the ODP. The gas so produced during the pilot productions has

been sold to the local customers near the site area.

As at 31 December 2015, the acquired oil/gas field has
approximately estimated contingent resources of 47.4 (31
December 2014: 47.4) thousand barrels (“Mbbl”) of oil and 11,633
(2014: 11,703) million cubic metres (“MMm?3") of natural gas (based
on Group's 49% net entitlement interests in Petroleum contract).
These contingent resources are quantities of oil and gas estimated,
to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations by
application of development projects, but which are not currently
considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more
contingencies. The risks associated with these contingent resources
included the following matters: (i) there is no definitive GSA or
accurate information on likely future sales prices; (i) the future ODP
is still to be developed and approved; and (i) the field is situated

in a remote location.

During the year, the exploration and production segment did not
contribute any revenue and the Group is still negotiating with
CNPC regarding the price term. The segment loss before income
tax was approximately HK$1,323,202,000 (2014: HK$12,604,000).
Impairment loss on intangible assets and exploration and evaluation
assets in the amounts of HK$1,057,000,000 and HK$256,000,000
respectively were recognised during the year as the carrying
amounts of the intangible assets and exploration and evaluation
assets exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
was determined with reference to the valuation report produced by
an independent valuer. No development and production activity

was carried out under the Petroleum Contract. The pilot-production
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is not regarded as production activities as the Petroleum Contract is

sti

Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
HHEEEENWR DM

EER

[l'in its exploration stage and ODP is yet to be approved. The

results of operations in exploration and production segment and

costs incurred for exploration and evaluation assets acquisition and

exploration activities are shown as below:

(a)

(b)

Results of operations in exploration and production segment (a)

EIRREED ML FE

ZRRERE  URBREFEEERE KSR
BELEZRAFINNAT

2015 2014

- —F—mE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

Net sales to customers B FIHER - -

Other income H U A 4,400 6,355

Operating expenses R (14,066) (18,341)

Depreciation e (536) (618)

Impairment of intangible assets B EERE (1,057,000) -

Impairment of exploration and WREFEEERE

evaluation assets (256,000) -
Results of operations before income tax  BRFTSFER S AT & ¥4

expenses (1,323,202) (12,604)

(b)

Costs incurred for exploration and evaluation assets

acquisitions and exploration activities

EIRRFHE BEERBR R EEELE 2K

2015 2014

=5 —E-lEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FET

Exploration cost NI - 15,023
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TRREEEEENRNE DN

Information on oil/gas field and gross contingent
resources

Under the Petroleum Contract, the exploration period covers 6
years commencing from 1 June 2009. The Group has issued formal
application to CNPC to apply for a two-year extension of the
exploration period of the Petroleum Contract beyond the original
deadline of 31 May 2015, as the exploration efforts in the
cooperation site has not been completed. As at 31 December
2015, the Group has 5 exploration wells and the carrying amounts
of the exploration and evaluation assets were approximately
HK$433,832,000. Since the acquisition of Totalbuild Investments
Group, the exploration activities were carried out under the
Petroleum Contract. During the year, the Group incurred operating
expenses of approximately HK$14,066,000 and 142,820,000 cubic
meters natural gas was extracted through the pilot-production. No
development and production activity was carried out under the
Petroleum Contract and the pilot-production is not regarded as
production activities, because the Petroleum Contract is still in its

exploration stage and the ODP has yet to be approved.

The reserve evaluation was conducted in accordance with
Petroleum Resources Management system, an internationally
recognised reserve standards and guideline, the details of which
were set out in the Appendix V of Competent Person’s Report to
the Company’s circular dated 3 December 2010. There are no any
material change of assumption as compared with previous disclosed

in the Competent Person’s Report.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
ITERETHEEEEN RN

The following table summarised the estimates of Group’s 49% net
entitlement interests of the gross contingent resources in the

Petroleum Contract:

TERBAGHENFTAEEERBEERAEN
49% FF A S LR BT

Oil Natural gas
ey RARR
(Mbbl) (MMm?3)
() (B8 XK)
As at 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 R = —MF+—-H=+—H
R=—FT—h&—HA—H 47.4 11,703
Pilot-production activity during the year FARAZRETH 5 70
At 31 December 2015 R-IEBE—FAFE+=-_A=+—H 47 4 11,633
Sales of Food and Beverages Business R RECHHERK

During the year, the Group recorded a revenue from the sales of
food and beverages business of approximately HK$5,399,000
(2014: HK$37,261,000), representing a decrease of 86% as
compared to last year. The segment loss before tax expenses was
approximately HK$3,857,000 (2014: profit of HK$547,000). The
significant decrease in revenue during the year was mainly due to
the Group's intention to reduce reliance on the sales of food and
beverage to related companies. The Group has tried to change the
customer and product mix with a view to increasing diversity of this
business segment and we will continue to keep track of the
economic environment and review the future allocation of resources

as and when required.

Money Lending Business

During the year under review, the Group commenced its money
lending business through Zhong Neng Finance Ltd, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which holds a money
lenders licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163,
Laws of Hong Kong). As at 31 December 2015, the loan and
interest receivables were approximately HK$46,803,000. The Group
recorded a revenue from the money lending business of
approximately HK$2,000,000 and the segment loss before tax
expenses was approximately HK$53,000.
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5,399,000 7T (ZZF — M4 : 37,261,000 7T) -
B EFR A 86% © FRIAR AT D MR R
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TT) o FRAKREARRD - TEHRANEB R
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KRHERDEC °
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Re-RZZE—AF+A=+—8 BHRERK
M 27247 46,803,0008 7T ° ALK E B REEB
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

FTEREHEHEEENRE DN

Financial Review

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no outstanding interest
bearing borrowings (2014: Nil). The cash and cash equivalents of
the Group were approximately HK$204,278,000 (2014:
HK$370,735,000). The Group's current ratio (current assets to
current liabilities) was approximately 0.7% (2014: 0.8%). The ratio of
total liabilities to total assets of the Group was approximately 21.1%
(2014: 15.6%).

During the year 31 December 2015, the shortfall amount of
HK$1,279,000,000 convertible notes (“Shortfall Notes”) have been
returned to the Company for cancellation as to the fact that no
written certificate was received from the Vendor of Kashi Project
issued by the competent evaluator confirming that the First
Designated Area be evaluated on the basis of unrisked economic
evaluation. A gain of HK$92,459,000 was recorded as the result of

the cancellation of convertible notes.

As at 31 December 2015, the convertible notes outstanding
principal amount of HK$679,670,000 due in 2041 not carrying any
interest with right to convert the convertible notes into ordinary
shares of the Company. The conversion price is HK$0.168 per share
(subject to adjustments) and a maximum number of 4,045,654,761
shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible notes in full. During the year, no

convertible note was converted to ordinary shares of the Company.

In June 2015, the Group commenced legal actions against the
holder(s) of the convertible notes, as further disclosed in the section

headed “Litigation” in this report.

Charge of Assets

None of the assets of the Group were pledged as security for any
banking facilities and borrowings as at 31 December 2015 and
2014.
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
ITERETHEEEEN RN

Exchange Exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC and the
exposure in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations in
the HK dollar and Renminbi exchange rates. Exchange rate
fluctuations and market trends have always been the concern of the
Group. The policy of the Group for its operating entities operates in
their corresponding local currencies to minimize currency risks. The
Group, after reviewing its exposure for the time being, did not
enter into any derivative contracts aimed at minimizing exchange
rate risks during the year. However, management will monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure if necessary.

Capital Commitments

The Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$141,254,000 and HK$123,900,000 as at 31 December 2015
(2014: HK$148,436,000 and Nil) in respect of exploration and
evaluation expenditure and capital contributions in a subsidiary

respectively.

Litigation

Reference is made to the announcements (the “Announcements”)
of Company dated 7 June 2015, 17 June 2015, 25 June 2015, 29
June 2015 and 18 August 2015 in relation to, inter alia, the
commencement of a litigation in relation to Totalbuild Transaction
against the Vendor, Mr. Wang Guoju, UK Prolific, Mr. Wang
Hanning and other parties (the “Defendants”).
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Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis

TRREEEEENRNE DN

As disclosed in the Announcements, the Board was informed that
Mr. Wang Guoju was formally charged by prosecution authorities in
China for (inter alia) illegal operation crime (the “Charge”), possibly
involving allegations about improper conduct during the obtaining
of the Petroleum Contract. After taking legal advice as to the
remedies which should be sought by the Company to uphold its
right, on 17 June 2015 (Cayman Islands time), the Company
commenced legal proceedings in the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands (the “Litigation”) against various parties including Totalbuild
Investments Holdings Group Limited (the Vendor of Totalbuild
Transaction), Mr. Wang Guoju (the guarantor of the Vendor), UK
Prolific (the allottee of Convertible bonds in principal amount of
HK$2,558,000,000 carrying right to convert the shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.168 each (“Tranche |
Convertible Notes”) as nominated by the Vendor) and Mr. Wang
Hanning (owner and controller of UK Prolific), whereby the
Company sought, inter alia, a declaration that the acquisition
agreement in relation to Totalbuild Transaction (the “Totalbuild
Agreement”) is void or, alternatively, the Company is allowed to
rescind the Totalbuild Agreement, and other remedies including
damages, on the basis that, inter alia, the Charge casts serious
doubt over: (a) the warranties given by the Vendor and Mr. Wang
Guoju in relation to the Petroleum Contract upon which the
Company relied in entering into the Totalbuild Transaction; and (b)
the validity of the Totalbuild Agreement by which the Company
issued Tranche | Convertible Notes to UK Prolific, and as a
consequence UK Prolific’s entitlement to any shareholding in the

Company.

On 23 June 2015 (Cayman Islands time), upon the Company’s
application, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands made an
injunction order that until the determination of the Company’s Writ
of Summons relating to the Litigation or further order of the Court

(inter alia):

1. The Defendants must not (a) dispose of, transfer, deal in, or
diminish the value of, or (b) exercise any rights or powers
(including but not limited to voting rights in general and/or
extraordinary meetings) in respect of, and/or (c) enter into any
agreement to effect the above, in relation to 1.86 billion
issued shares in the Company, being part of the consideration

for the Totalbuild Agreement; and
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2. The Defendants must not complete and/or procure the
conversion of the convertible notes representing
13,366,190,476 underlying shares in the Company, being part

of the consideration for the Totalbuild Agreement.

On 13 August 2015 (Cayman Islands time), upon the Company’s
undertaking not to allot, issue or deal with additional shares or to
make or grant offers, agreements or options in relation to the
issuance of any additional shares or securities (including any
derivative interests in the shares) without leave of the Court until
the conclusion of the present trial relating to the Litigation or
further Order, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands made an
order that the Injunction Order be continued until conclusion of the
present trial relating to the Litigation or further Order, and the
Company’s costs of and occasioned by UK Prolific’'s Summons be

paid by UK Prolific on the standard basis.

As the Litigation is only at a preliminary stage, the Board is not in
the position to assess the possible impact on the Group's oil and
gas operation and financial position. The Board will update
shareholders and the public on any material development of the
Litigation by way of announcement if and when appropriate. Details
of the Litigation were disclosed in the Company’s announcements 7
June 2015, 17 June 2015, 25 June 2015, 29 June 2015 and 18
August 2015.

Contingent Liabilities
Save as any contingent liabilities which may arise from any of the
litigations disclosed in this report, the Group had no other material

contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a total workforce of 28
(2014: 30). The Group remunerates its employees based on their
work performance, working experiences, professional qualifications

and the prevailing market practice.
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Prospects

Natural Resource Industries

As the litigation in relation to the Kashi Project is only in a
preliminary stage, the Company will continue to closely monitor the
status of the project and do what we can to uphold and protect the
Company'’s best interest, our investment costs and our expectation

on the return of the project.

Sales of Food and Beverages Business

The management has taken a cautious approach to manage the
operations of the food and beverages segment. The Group will
evaluate the value and performance of this segment from time to
time, and continue to keep track of the economic environment and

review the future allocation of resources as and when required.

Other new businesses

The Group has been seeking investment opportunities from time to
time to broaden the Group’s sources of income. During the year
under review, the Group has established new business divisions to
engage in money-lending and investment business. The Board
considers that such diversification can reduce the Group's reliance

on its oil and gas and food and beverages segments.
Appreciation

Looking forward, we will continue our proven strategy of fostering
opportunity for sustainable growth with the aim of enhancing retumn
for our shareholder. Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to a team of
devoted staff for their outstanding service and to our shareholders

for your continued support.

Wang Yongguang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016
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Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Guogiang, aged 58, joined the Company as an executive
director in December 2009 and was elected as the chief executive
officer on 29 December 2009. He graduated from his study for
Physics at Qufu Normal University. He has nearly 34 years of
working experience in exploration and exploitation of Petroleum
industry. He acted as senior engineer in Sinopec Shengli Oilfield
Company (the “Shengli Oilfield”) and awarded the Top-notch talent
from China Petroleum & Chemical Shengli Oilfield.

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau, aged 49, joined the Group in February 2004
and promoted to executive director and chief financial officer in
October 2005 and resigned as chief financial officer on 1 May 2011.
He has over 19 years' experiences in accounting and auditing fields
including over 14 years’ accounting and auditing experience in
other public listed companies prior to joining the Group in February
2004. Mr. Chui is also an executive director of Hong Kong Life
Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (stock code: 8085), which
is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and a
non-executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559), Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited (stock code:
0404) and Ngai Shun Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246), all of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
acted as an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific
(China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148), which is listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, from 17 March 2010 to 16 March
2016.

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wang Yongguang, aged 59, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in November 2012 and
appointed as Chairman and re-designated as non-executive
director on 25 January 2016. He graduated from the Shengli
Oilfield Staff University specializing in Petroleum Geology. He has
more than 32 years of work experience in petroleum industry. He
acted as Shengli Oilfield Dongxin Qil Production Plant operating
brigade deputy commander, the chief of technical supervision and

the officer of technical quality and safety supervision center.
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Dr. Gu Qun Rong, aged 51, joined the Company as a non-executive
director in September 2014. He obtained a bachelor degree and a
post-doctoral degree in Organic Chemistry from Nanjing University
in 1987 and 1996, respectively, and a doctorate degree in mineral
processing from China University of Mining & Technology, Beijing
in 1993. He is an expert in chemistry, energy, biodiesel and oil and
gas. Between 1996 and now, he held the positions of Associate
Professor, Professor and Vice Dean for Scientific Research in
Nanjing University, and had been a Visiting Scholar in Wayne State
University, United States and University of Regina, Canada and a
Senior Research Fellow in University of Alberta, Canada. He had
worked with leading oilfields in China such as Daqing Oilfield,
Shengli Qilfield and Dagang Oilfield, and been the Chief Scientist
of energy companies in North America.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zong Ketao, aged 49, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive director in July 2015. He is a lawyer qualified to
practice law in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). He
holds a master degree in law from University of International
Business and Economics, China and a bachelor degree in law from
Lanzhou University, China. He has extensive experience in litigation
and arbitration, company law and laws relating to investment,
finance, energy, mining and capital market. From 1989 to 2000, he
joined Sinopec Shengli Qilfield Company Limited, an associate of
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (“Sinopec”), as a member
of their in-house legal department. From 2003 to 2004, he was
appointed as the senior legal supervisor of another group company
of Sinopec. Since 2005, he started his own private legal practice

and joined various law firms in the PRC as a partner.

Mr. Cheng Chun Ying, aged 47, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in January 2016. He is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an associate member of the Certified Practicing
Accountants Australia. He holds a master’s degree in business law
from Monash University, Australia and a bachelor’s degree in
commerce accounting from The Curtin University of Technology,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance and accounting,
and has worked as financial controller in various private and public
listed companies in Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Lee Man Tai, aged 39, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive director in January 2016. He graduated from Lingnan
University, Hong Kong in 2000 with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration and obtained a master’'s degree in business
administration in financial services from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2010. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom. He has over 14 years of professional experience in
accounting and auditing. He worked as an audit assistant of Victor
W.N. Ngai & Co., an accountancy firm in Hong Kong, between
June 2000 and July 2001. Between September 2001 and April
2006, he worked as an audit supervisor of Grant Thornton CPA, a
member of Grant Thornton International Ltd (now known as BDO
Limited). Between October 2006 and October 2012, he acted as
the chief financial officer and company secretary of China Yuanbang
Property Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on Main Board
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited with stock
code BCD. Between October 2012 and May 2014, he acted as the
chief financial officer and company secretary of China 33 Media
Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the GEM with stock code
8087. Between July 2014 and April 2015, he acted as the chief
financial officer and company secretary of Flying Financial Service
Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on GEM with stock code
8030. Between April and September 2015, he acted as the
company secretary of Chanco International Group Limited, whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code 264 (“Chanco”); and between April 2015 and January

2016, he acted as the financial controller of Chanco.
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Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing, aged 46, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive director in July 2010. He holds a
bachelor degree in science with major in accounting of Bemidji
State University, USA and is a member of both American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience in auditing
and accounting field. Mr. Fu acted as an independent non-
executive director of Dejin Resources Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1163), which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from 31 January 2013 to 12 August 2015. He also acted
as an independent non-executive director of China New Energy
Power Group Limited (stock code: 1041), which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from 4 September 2014 to 10 June
2015. Which are both listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange.
Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing retired as an independent non-executive

director on 26 January 2016.

Mr. Sun Xiaoli, aged 60, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive director in July 2011. He is a lawyer in the PRC. He
holds a master degree in law from China University of Political
Science and Law and a bachelor degree in law from East China
University of Political Science and Law (formerly known as “East
China College of Political Science and Law"). From 1983 to 1985,
Mr. Sun acted as the teacher in Fujian Provincial Public Security
College. From 1988 to 1995, he has acted as the research associate
in Institute of the Ministry of Justice. From 1996 to January 1997,
he has acted as the associate professor in the Faculty of Law in the
China University of Political Science and Law. Mr. Sun has been the
lawyer in the Navigator Law Office since 1997. He has extensive
experience in teaching and dealing with the laws’ affairs in the PRC.
Mr. Sun Xiaoli resigned as an independent non-executive director
on 16 June 2015.
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Corporate Governance Report

Overview

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate
governance standard and procedures. The Board recognizes the
importance of and benefit from good corporate governance
practices. We believe that improvement in corporate governance
not only assists the Company in effective supervision and control on
its business operation, but also attracts investment from
international institutional investors, thereby creating and enhancing

shareholder value.

The Stock Exchange has promulgated the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

1.  Corporate Governance Practices
(@)  With respect to the compliance with paragraph A of the
CG Code, the Company has carried out the following

corporate governance practices:

The Company had held 17 Board meetings in the year
of 2015. Directors have been consulted to advice the
agenda of the Board meeting. The Board has
determined all material matter by physical board
meeting with real-time conferencing facilities and
sufficient notice of the Board meeting has been given to
the directors. Minutes of the Board and the Board
committees are recorded in sufficient details and kept
by the company secretary for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any director.
Directors were supplied with adequate information in a
timely manner and taken independent professional
advice at the Company’s expenses to enable them
forming decision in the relevant meetings. The Company
has arranged for insurance cover in respect of legal
action against the directors. The composition of the
Board is shown on page 43 of this Annual Report. A
director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy

or as an addition shall hold office until the next general
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meeting. Every director is aware that he/she should give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company. Details of the directors’ attendance in
different meetings are set out on page 26. Agreed
procedures are in place providing to the member of the
Board and/or committee to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses to assist

them to discharge their duties.

For other details of the responsibilities of directors,

please refer to the section “Board of directors”.

With respect to the compliance with paragraph B of the
CG Code, the Company has established a remuneration
committee with specific written terms of reference,
details of which are set out in pages 29 to 31 of this
Annual Report.

With respect to the compliance with paragraph C of the
CG Code, the Company has carried out the following

corporate governance practices:

Management has provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board as will enable the Board to
make an informed assessment of financial and other
information put before the Board for approval. The
Company has announced the result of 2015 on 31
March 2016. A statement by the auditor about its
reporting responsibilities is included in Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 55 to 59 of this Annual
Report. The details of the internal controls of the
Company and the audit committee are set out under the

section “Internal Control and Internal Audit” below.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining
sound and effective internal control system for the
Group to safeguard investments of the shareholders and
assets of the Company at all times. The system of
internal controls aims to help achieving the Group's
business objectives, safeguarding assets and
maintaining proper accounting records for provision of
reliable financial information. However, the design of
the system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement in the financial
statements or loss of assets and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure when business objectives are
being sought. Management has conducted regular
reviews during the year on the effectiveness of the
internal control system covering all material controls in
area of financial, operational and compliance controls,
various functions for risks management as well as
physical and information systems security. The chief
financial officer (the “CFO") has reported to the audit
committee from time to time during the year, in
conjunction with key findings identified by the external
auditors, findings and actions or measures taken in
addressing those internal controls. The audit committee
in turn reports any material issues to the Board. The
Board, through the audit committee, also sets targets
for and reviews plan and progress on continuous
improvement work of the Company’s internal control

system with the CFO on a periodic basis.
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With respect to the compliance with paragraph D of the
CG Code, the Company has carried out the following

corporate governance practices:

When the Board delegates aspects of its management
and administration functions to management, it has
given clear directions as to the powers of management,
in particular, with respect to the circumstance where
management shall report back and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company. The
Company has set up three committees, for details

please refer to the relevant sections below.

With respect to the compliance with paragraph E of the
CG Code, the chairman of the Board should attend the
annual general meeting ("AGM") to answer questions
raised up in the meeting. The chairman has attended
the adjourned AGM to answer questions raised up in
the meeting. The procedures for demanding a poll by
the shareholders were incorporated in every circular
issued during the financial year ended 31 December
2015.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the

date of this Annual Report, the Group has complied itself with

all CG Code except for the following deviations:

()

In relation to A.2.1 of the CG Code which states that the
roles of chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the
"CEQ") should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual and the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and CEO should
clearly established and set out in writing. During the
year, the position of chairman was vacated and Mr. Zhao
Guogjiang is the CEO. On 25 January 2016, Mr. Wang
Yongguang was appointed the Chairman of the
Company. Following the appointment of the Chairman,
the Company has fulfilled the relevant requirement of
CG Code.
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In relation to E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
Board should attend the AGM. As announced by the
Company on 29 June 2015, the Company’s 2015 AGM
which was originally scheduled to be held on 30 June
2015 was adjourned until further notice. The Company’s
2015 AGM was eventually held on 26 January 2016. On
25 January 2016, Mr. Wang Yongguang was appointed
the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Wang attended and
chaired the Company’s AGM on 26 January 2016. With
the appointment of Mr. Wang as the Company’s
Chairman and the holding of the adjourned 2015 AGM
on 26 January 2016, the Company has fulfilled the
requirement of CG Code.

In relation to A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election while all directors should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. For the year under review, all independent
non-executive directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term but they are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the

Company's articles of association.

In relation to I(f) of the CG Code, the board shall
comprise at least three independent non-executive
directors. Following the resignation of Mr. Sun Xiaoli as
an independent non-executive director on 17 June
2015, the number of independent non-executive
directors fell below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules. On 21 July 2015,
Mr. Zong Ketao has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director. Following the appointment of
Mr. Zong, the Company has fulfilled the requirement of
minimum number of independent non-executive

directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules.
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As announced by the Company on 25 January 2016, Mr.
Wang Yongguang was re-designated as a non-executive
director. Due to Mr. Wang's re-designation, (i) the
number of independent non-executive directors had
fallen below the minimum number of three as required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (ii) the audit
committee of the Company did not have a majority
membership comprising independent non-executive
directors as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules; and (iii) the remuneration committee of the
Company did not have a majority membership
comprising independent non-executive directors as
required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. Following
the appointments of Mr. Cheng Chun Ying and Mr. Lee
Man Tai as independent non-executive directors and
members of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company on 26 January 2016, the
Company had fulfilled (i) the requirement of minimum
number of three independent non-executive directors
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (ii) the
requirement of the audit committee of the Company
comprising a majority of independent non-executive
directors as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules; and (iii) the requirement of the remuneration
committee of the Company comprising a majority of
independent non-executive directors as required under
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own Code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the directors
of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all directors,
they have confirmed following specific enquiry by the
Company that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code through the year.

Board of directors

(@) Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises a total of seven members including two
executive directors, two non-executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. Members of
the Board have different professional and relevant
industry experiences and background so as to bring in
valuable contributions and advices for the development
of the Group's business. Up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has three independent non-
executive directors representing not less than one-third

of the Board, and two of them are qualified accountants.

(b) The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive director of their
independence to the Group. The Group considered that
all independent non-executive directors meets the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines. The names of the directors
and their respective biographies are set out on pages 15
to 18 of this Annual Report.
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() The Board meets periodically with the management to (0 ESSTHHEEESH X TRAS
discuss the Group's strategies development and to B RERER MG EEF - BEF

ENERENEEAREEEIREE
BERZHMBRA AYRFEZE

review the business operation. The Board also monitors

and controls financial performance in pursuit of the

Group's strategic objectives. The names of the directors FUERAERz@FHEEAT
during the financial year and their individual attendance
of are set out below:
Attendance/number of meetings entitle to attend
HRERY FELEZESHE
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Name Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BRFRAE,/
#E Exg ENZEE ¥FHzEg REZES KEIRE
Mr. Zhao Guogjiang fHElsR S N/A N/A N/A
(CEO) (17848%,) 1717 TEm TEm TR 0/0
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau BEHIREE N/A N/A N/A
15/17 Zy i qyli &R 0/0
Mr. Wang Yongguang kKT
(appointed as Chairman (RZB—R%F
and re-designated as —A=-t+3ER
non-executive director BZEREIRER
on 25 January 2016) HERFRNTES) 1217 212 212 212 0/0
Dr. Gu Quanrong BrREL 1217 1”n Al 7 0/0
Mr. Zong Ketao RELBLE
(appointed on 21 July (R=Z—0F N/A N/A
2015) tAZ+—REZf) 4/4 11 MNER TR 0/0
Mr. Cheng Chun Ying ERESE
(appointed on 26 January (RZE—RF N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
2016) —AZTRBRZEA) NiERA Gyl Gyl @R MR
Mr. Lee Man Tai FXREE
(appointed on 26 January (RZE—~F N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
2016) —AZ+RBRZEA) A TNER TER @R TR
Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing BEB&E
(retired on 26 January (RZB-—R%F
2016) =N D) Mn7 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/0
Mr. Sun Xiaoli HEREE
(resigned on 16 June (R=Z-—1%
2015) NATRBREE) 2/ 11 11 17 0/0
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The Board members have no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
Each of the independent non-executive directors have
confirmed in writing their independence from the
Company in accordance with the guidelines on director
independence of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the
Company considers all such directors to be

independent.

The Board oversees the Group's strategic development
and determines the objectives, strategies and policies of

the Group.

The major issues which were brought before the Board

for their decisions during the year include:

(i)  Proposals related to potential acquisition,
investments, or any significant capital

expenditures; and

(i)  Formulation of operational strategies and review
of its financial performance and results and the

internal control system.

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
the Company maintains sound and effective internal
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and

the Company's assets.

Three Board committees, namely, the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee, have been established to oversee particular

aspect of the Group's affairs.
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() The Board also has delegated the day-to-day
management and operations of the Group's businesses
to management of the Group. Major corporate matters
that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of financial
statements for Board approval before publishing,
execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted
by the Board, implementation of adequate systems of
internal controls and risk management procedures, and
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and

rules and regulations.

0) In relation to A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors have
participated their own professional training by attending
seminar/programme/reading relevant materials in

relation to the business on directors’ duties.

(k) The Company has attached much importance to the risk
management about directors’ liabilities and has
arranged appropriate liability insurance for Directors and
senior management of the Company. The insurance

coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Board diversity policy

On 27 August 2013, the Company adopted the Board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) in accordance
with the requirement set out in the CG Code. On 31 March
2016, the Company revised the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company recognizes that the Board diversity is an essential
element contributing to the sustainable development of the
Company. In designing the Board’s composition, the Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to the skills, knowledge, gender,
age, cultural and educational background or professional
experience. All Board appointments are based on merits and
considered against a variety of objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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5.  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(a)

Up to the date of this Annual Report, Mr. Wang
Yongguang is the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Zhao
Guogiang was elected as the CEO on 29 December
2009.

The CEO provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support
of the senior management, the CEO is also responsible
for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner
and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meeting.

The directors focus on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board.
Directors are in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The directors are also
responsible for assisting the CEO in developing strategic
plans and formulating the company practices and
procedures, business objectives, and risk assessment for
the Board's approval.

Non-executive Directors

All non-executive directors, including independent non-

executive directors, of the Company, have not been

appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by

rotation and eligible for re-election in the AGM in accordance

with the articles of association of the Company.

7 Remuneration of Directors

(a)

The Company has established a remuneration
committee since 23 September 2005 with written terms
of reference and revised on 27 March 2012 as disclosed
on the Company’s website. The primary duties of the
remuneration committee include the following:

i. to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration;
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to have the delegated responsibility to determine
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payment, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive directors. The
Committee should consider factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the group and desirability

of performance-based remuneration;

to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to

time;

to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their
office or appointment to ensure that such
compensation is determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that such
compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive

for the Company;

to review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
directors for misconduct to ensure that such
arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that any
compensation payment is otherwise reasonable

and appropriate; and

to ensure that no director or any of his associates

is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Up to the date of this Annual Report, the members of
remuneration committee comprised Mr. Cheng Chun
Ying who act as chairman of the remuneration
committee, Mr. Wang Yongguang, Dr. Gu Quan Rong,
Mr. Zong Ketao and Mr. Lee Man Tai. The majority of
members of the remuneration committee is comprised
of independent non-executive directors of the

Company.

The number of remuneration committee meeting held
during the year and record of individual attendance of
members, on a named basis, at meetings held during
was set out in section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on page 26 of this Annual Report. The
remuneration committee had reviewed and approved
the management’s remuneration proposals with

reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group
was set up by the remuneration committee on the basis

of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emolument of the directors of the Company is
determined by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group's share option scheme as described on page
45 of this Annual Report is adopted as the Group's long-

term incentive scheme.
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Nomination of Directors

The Company has established a nomination committee since
27 March 2012 with written terms of reference and amended
on 27 August 2013 as disclosed on the Company’s website.
The primary functions of the nomination committee include

the following:

i to review the structure, size and composition (including
but not limited to the skills, knowledge, gender, age,
cultural and educational background or professional
experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate

strategy;

ii.  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become the
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships on merits and
against objective criteria, with due regard on the
benefits of diversity on the Board, especially to ensure
that the independent non-executive Directors comprise
at least one-third of the Board;

iii. to assess the independence of independent non-

executive Directors;

iv. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive, taking
into account the Company'’s corporate strategy and the
mix of skills, knowledge, diversity and experience in the

future; and

v.  to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
to review the measurable objectives that the Board has
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress on achieving the objectives; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate

Governance Report annually.
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Up to the date of this Annual Report, the members of
nomination committee comprised Mr. Cheng Chun Ying who
acts as chairman of the nomination committee, Mr. Wang
Yongguang, Dr. Gu Quan Rong, Mr. Zong Ketao and Mr. Lee
Man Tai. The majority of members of the nomination
committee is comprised of independent non-executive

directors of the Company.

The number of nomination committee meeting held during
the year and record of individual attendance of members, on
a named basis, at meetings held during was set out in section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 26 of this
Annual Report. The nomination committee had reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board, made
recommendations on the changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and assessed

the independence of independent non-executive directors.

Auditors’ remuneration

For the financial year, BDO Limited, the auditor of the
Company, received HK$960,000 in respect of audit service
provided to the Group. The auditors’ remuneration has been
duly approved by the audit committee and there was no
disagreement between the Board and the audit committee on

the selection and appointment of auditor.

Audit Committee

(@) The audit committee of the Company was established
on 30 January 2002. The written terms of reference of
the audit committee was revised on 27 March 2012 and
31 March 2016 as disclosed on the Company’s website.
The audit committee comprises two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Lee Man Tai (chairman of the audit
committee), Mr. Wang Yongguang, Dr. Gu Quan Rong,
Mr. Zong Ketao and Mr. Cheng Chun Ying. Mr. Lee Man
Tai and Mr. Cheng Chun Ying are certified public
accountants for many years. In the opinion of the Board,
the members of the audit committee have sufficient
financial management expertise to discharge their

duties.
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The number of audit committee meetings held during

the year and record of individual attendance of

members, on a named basis, at meetings held was set

out in section headed “Corporate Governance Report”

on page 26 of this Annual Report.

The audit committee is delegated by the Board to

assess matters related to the financial statements of

accounts and to provide recommendations and advices,

including but not limited to the followings:

to consider, and to make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the audit fee and other terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of

resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectively and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance

with applicable standard;

to discuss with the external auditors before the
audit commences, the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-
ordination where more than one audit firm is

involved;

to develop and implement policy on the
engagement of an external auditor to supply non-
audit services. For this purpose, external auditor
shall include any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit
firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant
information would reasonably conclude as part of
the audit firm nationally or internationally. The
Committee should report to the Board, identifying
any matters in respect of which it considers that
action or improvement needed and making

recommendations as to the steps to be taken;
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to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and annual report and accounts, half-
year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial

reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing, the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports before submission to
the Board, the Committee should focus particularly

on:

a. any changes in accounting policies and

practice;

b.  major judgmental areas;

c.  significant adjustments resulting from the
audit;

d. the going concern assumption and any

qualifications;

e.  compliance with accounting standards;

f. compliance with the Listing Rules and other
legal requirements in relation to financial

reporting;

g. the fairness and reasonableness of any
connected transaction and the impact of
such transaction on the profitability of the

Group;

h. whether all relevant items have been
adequately disclosed in the Group's financial
statements and whether the disclosures give
a fair view of the Group’s financial

conditions;
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Vii.

viii.

HE

any significant or unusual items that are, or
may need to be, reflected in such reports
and accounts; and

g the cashflow position of the Group.

and to provide advice and comments thereon to
the Board,;

in regard to vi. above:

a. members of the Committee must liaise with
the Board and senior management. The
Committee must meet, at least twice a year,

with the Company’s auditors; and

b. the Committee should consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or may
need to be, reflected in such reports and
accounts and must give due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the
Company'’s accountant, compliance officer or

auditors.

to discuss problems and reservations arising from
the interim and final audits, and any matters the
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of

management where necessary);

to discuss with the management the risk
managements and internal control systems and
ensure the management has discharged its duty to
have effective risk management and internal
control systems and to review the Company’s
statements on risk management and internal
control systems (which are included in the annual

report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to consider any findings of major investigations on
risk management and internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and

management’s response;
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Xi.

xii.

Xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVi.

XVii.

Corporate Governance Report

(where an internal audit function exists) to review
the internal audit programme, ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company and to
review monitor, the effectiveness of the internal

audit function;

to conduct exit interviews with any director,
manager, financial controller or internal audit
control manager upon their resignation in order to

ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the
Board and to prepare summary of work reports for

inclusion in the Group's interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a
Committee member, a company secretary,
auditors and accounting staff (including internal
control department) either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional Committee member, company
secretary, auditors and accounting staff or

dismissal of any of them;

to consider the major findings of internal

investigations and management’s response;

to review the external auditor’'s management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to
management in respect of the accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and

management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external

auditor's management letter;
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xviii. to report to the Board on the matters set out in
the code provisions contained in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices set out in (and as
amended from time to time) Appendix 14 to the

Listing Rules; and

xix. to consider other matters, as defined or assigned

by the Board from time to time.

In addition to the above tasks regarding to the
Company'’s financial statement, the audit committee
should also to consider any other matters, as defined by
the Board from time to time; and to conduct interviews
with any director, manager, financial controller upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his

departure.

The audit committee acknowledges its responsibility in
maintaining sound and effective internal control system
of the Group to safeguard investments of the

shareholders and assets of the Company at all times.

The Group's interim report for the year ended 30 June
2015 and annual report for the year ended 31 December

2015 have been reviewed by the audit committee.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Chun Kau has been the Company Secretary of the

Company since June 2014. Mr. Chan is a solicitor in Hong

Kong. He is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board

procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are

followed. During the year, Mr. Chan undertook over 15 hours

of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.
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Shareholder Rights and Investor Relations

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained
in the Company'’s articles of association. Details of such rights
to demand a poll and the poll procedures are included in all
circulars to shareholders and will be explained during the

proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange on the business day following the

shareholders’ meeting.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen of the audit
committee, of the remuneration committee and of the
nomination committee, or in their absence, other members of
the respective committees, is available to answer questions at

the shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of individual
directors. During the year, there was no significant change in

the constitutional documents.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with investors and
analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an

informative and timely manner.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the
Board on requisition of shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company or by such
shareholders who made the written requisition (the
“Requisitionists”) to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company (as the case may be) pursuant to Article 58 of the
Articles of Association. Such Requisition must state the object
of business to be transacted at the meeting and must be
signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company or the Company’s principal place of

business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures
as set out in such Article for convening an extraordinary
general meeting. Shareholders may put forward proposals at
general meeting of the Company by sending the same to the
Company at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders
may send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights

to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

By the order of the Board

Wang Yongguang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016
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The directors present herewith the Annual Report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015.

Principal Activity and Business Review

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries involves
sales of food and beverages in Hong Kong, exploration and
production of natural gas in PRC and money lending business, the
details of which are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as regular by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Company Ordinance”), including a fair review of
the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2015,
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Annual Report. The above section forms part of this report of the
Directors.

Financial Statements and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Income on pages 60 to 61.

The state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2015 is set out
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 62 to
63.

The directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2015.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated financial results and consolidated
assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is
set out on page 154.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are

set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2015 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
Share Capital and Share Options

Movements in share capital of the Company during the year,
together with reasons thereof, and of the Company’s share options,
are set out in note 25 and note 26 to the consolidated financial

statements respectively.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
articles of association or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.
Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 64 and note 28 to the consolidated financial

statements respectively.
Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2015 are

set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively

during the financial year is as follows:
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RUBRFEA  TR2EFPRHEFDRIEAKE
ZHERRRBROT

Percentage of the
Group's total

HAEEEZBEEIL
Sales Purchases
HER R
The largest customer FARFP 71%
Five largest customers in aggregate RBP4t 100%
The largest supplier =AM RERE 97%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR AR 100%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had

any interest in these major customers and suppliers.
Composition of the Board

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this Annual Report as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Guogjiang (Chief Executive Officer and alternate director to
Mr. Wang Yongguang and Dr. Gu Quan Rong)

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Yongguang (Appointed as Chairman and re-designated as
non-executive Director on 25 January 2016)

Dr. Gu Quan Rong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zong Ketao (Appointed on 21 July 2015)

Mr. Cheng Chun Ying (Appointed on 26 January 2016)
Mr. Lee Man Tai (Appointed on 26 January 2016)

Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing (Retired on 26 January 2016)
Mr. Sun Xiaoli (Resigned on 16 June 2015)
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Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Chui
Kwong Kau, Mr. Wang Yongguang, Mr. Cheng Chun Ying and Mr.
Lee Man Tai, will retire at the upcoming AGM and be eligible for

re-election.
Director’s Biographies

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out on

pages 15 to 18 of this Annual Report.
Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which was not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation

other than statutory compensation.
Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were

entered into or existed during the year.
Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No other contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Interest and Short Position in Shares

As at 31 December 2015, none of the directors or chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Apart from the share option scheme disclosures in the section
“Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Equity-linked Agreements

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the
year or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2013 and the
Stock Exchange granting approval of the listing of and permission
to deal in the shares to be issued under the share option scheme
(the "Share Option Scheme”) on 26 June 2013, the Company has
adopted the Share Option Scheme to replace the expired share
option scheme adopted 28 January 2002 and as amended on 2
November 2006.

Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme adopted, the Board
of the Company may, at its discretion, grant options to eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.

No share option was granted and exercised during the year under
review and there was no outstanding share option as at 31

December 2015 and 2014.
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Substantial Shareholders’ interests and Short
Position
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MR ER S MAEGIIE 3B HREARREA
AR ERIOART ¢

As at 31 December 2015, the interests or short positions of the
persons, other than a director or chief executive of the Company, in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAEQABDRGRAEBERG ZHFE
Company
Total number  Approximate
Number of  of sharesand  percentage of
Number of underlying underlying issued share
Name of Shareholders Nature of interests shares shares shares capital
il RER EEBTRE
RREE/ BB R ROBE REEE HEARGER BHRESL
Huge Pearl Interational Trustee 1,860,000,000 11,658,750,000 13,518,750,000 142.22%
Limited' TEEA
Pure Light Enterprise Ltd.! Trustee 1,860,000,000 11,658,750,000 13,518,750,000 142.22%
RFEA
U.K. Prolific Petroleum Group  Interest of controlled 1,860,000,000 11,658,750,000 13,518,750,000 142.22%
Company Ltd.’ corporation
REHNEE < s
Wang Hanning' Founder of discretionary 1,860,000,000 11,658,750,000 13,518,750,000 142.22%
TEE trust
SREFTAIMA
Harvest Fund Management Investment manager 1,134,772,000 0 1,134,772,000 11.94%
Co., Ltd.2 REKE
EEECEEERAF?
China Credit Trust Co., Ltd? Interest of controlled 1,134,772,000 0 1,134,772,000 11.94%
HBETEERE EAR? corporation
RIEHER 2 # s
Wang Da Yong?® Beneficial Owner 2,375,000,000 0 2,375,000,000 29.98%
FoAE? EREAA
Simsen International Beneficial Owner 617,749,690 0 617,749,690 7.80%

Corporation Limited?

RITEIRR () AR AR

EnEAA
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Notes:

Based on the filings under Disclosure of Interest (“DI”) under
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance retrieved by
the Company from public records, (a) U.K. Prolific Petroleum
Group Limited ("UK Prolific”) regarded itself to be interested
in 1,860,000,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) and
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes"”) in the principal
amount of HK$1,958,670,000 due in 2041 not carrying any
interest with right to convert the Convertible Notes into a
maximum of 11,658,750,000 Shares at a conversion price of
HK$0.168 per Share; and (b) UK Prolific regarded itself to be
wholly owned by Pure Light Enterprise Limited (“Pure Light"”),
which was reportedly wholly owned by Huge Pearl
International Limited (“Huge Pearl”), which in turn was
reportedly the trustee for Wang's Trust, a discretionary trust

for which Mr. Wang Hanning was reported as the founder.

These Convertible Notes were issued by the Company to UK
Prolific upon completion of the Group’s acquisition
(“Totalbuild Transaction”) of the entire equity interest in
Totalbuild Investments Group (Hong Kong) Limited (which in
turn holds the entire issued share capital of China Era Energy
Power Investment (Hong Kong) Limited) pursuant to the
acquisition agreement (the “Totalbuild Agreement”) between
the Company (as purchaser) and Totalbuild Investments
Holdings Group Limited (the “Vendor")) dated 22 January
2009. As a result of Totalbuild Transaction, the Company has
issued convertible notes in principal amount of
HK$2,558,000,000 carrying right to convert to Shares at the
conversion price of HK$0.168 each (“Tranche | Convertible
Notes"”) to UK Prolific, which was nominated by the Vendor to
be the allottee of such notes. In accordance with the terms of
Totalbuild Transaction, a principal amount of
HK$1,279,000,000 out of the Tranche | Convertible Notes was
deposited with an escrow agent which should only be
released to the Vendor (or UK Prolific as the Vendor may
direct) if the Company receives a written certificate issued by
the competent evaluator confirming that the “First Designated
Area” can be evaluated on the basis of “Unrisked Economic

Evaluation” on or before 31 May 2015 (as such terms are
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defined in the circular in relation to the Totalbuild Transaction
dated 3 December 2010). As no such written certificate was
received by the Company on or before 31 May 2015, the
Shortfall Bonds have now been returned to the Company for

cancellation.

In addition, on 17 June 2015 (Cayman Islands time), the
Company commenced legal proceedings in the Grand Court
of the Cayman Islands (the “Litigation”) against various parties
including the Vendor, Mr. Wang Guoju (the guarantor of the
Vendor), UK Prolific (the allottee of Tranche | Convertible
Notes as nominated by the Vendor) and Mr. Wang Hanning
(owner and controller of UK Prolific), whereby the Company
seeks, inter alia, a declaration that the Totalbuild Agreement
is void or, alternatively, the Company is allowed to rescind the
Totalbuild Agreement, and other remedies including
damages, on the basis that, inter alia, the charge laid by
prosecution authorities in China against Mr. Wang Guoju for
(inter alia) illegal operation crime (the “Charge”), possibly
involving allegations about improper conduct during the
obtaining of the Petroleum Contract, casts serious doubt over:
(a) the warranties given by the Vendor and Mr. Wang Guoju in
relation to the Petroleum Contract upon which the Company
relied in entering into the Totalbuild Transaction; and (b) the
validity of the Totalbuild Agreement by which the Company
issued Tranche | Convertible Notes to UK Prolific, and as a
consequence UK Prolific’s entitlement to any shareholding in

the Company.

Up to 31 December 2015, the Company has not received any
Dl filings from any of the related parties to reflect any changes
of their deemed interest in the relevant shares in the light of

the above developments.
These shares were held an asset management product

managed by Harvest Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Harvest
Fund”), namely China Guangfa Bank-JS FUND-QDII2.
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Based on the DI filings made by the relevant shareholder(s) to
the Company, Harvest Fund is 40% owned by China Credit
Trust Co., Ltd. As such, China Credit Trust Co., Ltd. is deemed
to be interested in all the shares of the Company owned by

Harvest Fund.

3. Based on the information obtained by the Company from
United Simsen Securities Limited (“United Simsen”), being
the placing agent of the placing announced by the Company
on 9 May 2014 (the “Placing”) and the underwriter of the
open offer announced on the same date (the “Open Offer”)
at the relevant time, United Simsen has sub-underwritten the
entire offer shares under the Open Offer to three sub-
underwriters, who have respectively agreed to sub- underwrite
2,375,000,000, 617,749,690 and 395,000,000 shares under
the Open Offer. On or around 12 May 2014, the Company
received two DI filing forms from United Simsen notifying the
Company that Wang Da Yong and Simsen International
Corporation Limited (“Simsen International”) were
respectively deemed to be interested in 2,375,000,000 and
617,749,690 shares. At the relevant time, the Company was
given to understand that the deemed interest in shares
referred to the shares which Wang Da Yong and Simsen
International had respectively agreed to sub-underwrite under
the Open Offer.

The Open Offer and the underwriting agreement relating to
the Open Offer were terminated on 23 June 2014, but up to
31 December 2015, the Company has not received any DI
filings reflecting Wang Da Yong's and Simsen International’s

ceasing to own the deemed interest in the relevant shares.

Directors’ Interests in a Competing Business and
Conflict of Interests

None of the directors were interested in any business apart from
the Group's business which competed or were likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year.

Report of the Directors

ESERE

1R 0 AR SR () K 23 B fE ) 2 M S T o
% EEECHTHUEHAREEATES
40% % - B - PASEAREERTR
BARBEESHANFARR ARG 5
B -

BEARAMRTHEELFARIF (X
THE ) REERBAAAGIN =T —N
FRANBAMHNESEE(BRESEE])
WEREEREERRRABAMHNAREE (T2
MREEDNEERBEZER - RITHE K
AAFETZE2PEERMNHIBET =2
BHEE  FEDRRESPHARBETZ
2,375,000,000 ~ 617,749,690 &
395,000,000/ &« W =F —MNF A A
T HFIE - AARBEERTHAMMDE
EEBRRERE - SHEARAEEIABR
KITBIBR () BR AR ([ RITEBR] o
Bl # 18 A 7 2,375,000,000 & 617,749,690
RRAR D P HEH HE 2 o PAABRERSER - A QAR
MR BAR 2 B IERE SIS T RB RRTTRER
HRIRERBEAREE S BHNZEZRD

DR ERARRENS R ORBHEN =
T-mEAAST=REL  RHE=D
—EF+-A=+-R  ARAWKEER
REAR AT ARG AR
Gt ESELER

EERGRRB2EERNEER

FA BEEFNEASEERERAERRF
KA BE T 2 EI (N BESRIN h B s o

Annual Report 2015 - 4




Report of the Directors
EEETHRE

Related and Connected Party Transactions

BEBALRBERS

Details of the significant related party and connected transaction of RIE ERAAERBENSEARBA L MEERS
the Group under the Listing Rules are set out in note 30 to the FIEEN I EHARM IO R T
financial statements and as below:
2015 2014
—E-hfF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Rental expenses paid to related EfRERARMESMAX
companies (note (i)) (B5EG)) - 555
Sales of food to related companies (note (ii)) m) BEEE A )88 & B dm (PR (i) - 37,105
Notes: izt
(i) The rental expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 (i) BE_Z-AFR-_ZT-WNF+-_A=+—HIt
were paid to: FEZHASAZIINT

Speedy Fortune Limited and Hon Po Investment Limited of which
directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company have a beneficial
interest. The rental expenses were based on the tenancy agreements
signed with the Group.

(ii) The Group has the sales transactions with the following related
companies during the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

KEERARLEERABRAR  ARRAE
THBRARZEEREERED - HERX IR
BEAEEMRR 2 HEHAE -

(ii) HEZZ

2015 2014

—E-IfF —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Bestcase Hong Kong Limited BEBBERAR = 4,145

Dragongem Development Limited EZEERARLDA] - 5,412

Hon Po Group (Lobster King) Limited EEEE(BEBERT)BRAR - 7,703

Jing Hua (Allied) Limited RE (A ) BRAF - 6,497

Twin Star Investments Limited EEXERRAR - 3,348

Metropolis Harbour View Chinese SBRHERDA]

Cuisine Limited - 5,387

Ocean Grace Investments Limited RAEREBR AR - 4,613

- 37/, 1019
As stated in note 23, certain directors of certain subsidiaries of the AN EE 23 Frst AR R ETHB AR ZETE
Company have a beneficial interest in the above companies. As a ER LM AREEERER - At ZF QAR

result, these companies are related companies of the Group.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities of the
Company

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities, during the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Bank Borrowings and Banking Facilities

The Group had no outstanding bank borrowings as at 31 December
2015 and 2014.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Corporate Governance

The Company'’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 40 of

this Annual Report.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own Code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the directors of the Company. All directors
have confirmed following specific enquiry by the Company that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code through the year.

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate social
governance essential for creating a framework for motivating staff,
and contributes to the community in which we conduct our

businesses and creating a sustainable return to the Group.
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Working Conditions

The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy in accordance
with the requirement set out in the CG Code. The Company
recognizes that the Board diversity is an essential element
contributing to the sustainable development of the Company. In
designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
the skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and educational
background or professional experience. A Board Diversity Policy,
with the aim of enhancing the quality of the Board’s performance
by diversity, was adopted on 27 August 2013 and revised on 31
March 2016.

The Group encourages its staff to participate in external seminars
and lectures to keep abreast of changes and updates on areas of
legal, compliance, financial accounting and reporting, and market
industry practices. Through these types of training, we believe that
the Group can increase its efficiency and productivity while overall

reduction of risk and uncertainties of the Group can be reduced.

The Company encourages continuous professional development
training for the Directors and senior management to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills which includes seminars and
workshops, updates on regulatory requirements and development

and corporate governance practices.
Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment to the employees. In order to maintain a healthy and
safe working environment, the Group has upgraded and maintained

tools, office and IT equipment.

TR
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Environment Protection

Conservation of the environment is a key focus for the Group. The
Group complies with environmental legislation, encourages
environmental protection and promotes environmental protection

awareness to all employees of the Group.
Community Involvement

The Group is committed to participating in community events from
time to time, and to the improvement of community well-being and
social services. The Group supports and encourages staff to actively
participate in a wide range of charitable events outside working
hours, to raise awareness and concern for the community, and to

inspire more people to take part in serving the community.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are delegated
with the continuing responsibility to monitor adherence and

compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact

on the business and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity against
liability incurred by directors and chief executives of the Group is
currently in force and was in force throughout the year ended 31
December 2015.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises two non-executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors of the Company. The
audit committee has adopted terms of reference which are in line
with the CG Code. The Group's audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 have been reviewed by the audit
committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply with
applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other legal

requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 have been audited by BDO Limited, who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of the

Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wang Yongguang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

|IBDO

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{85 : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

18 M % BRI R

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
BETHEPRI15E
KZF2548

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA ENERGY DEVELOPMENT
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(PEIRERFABRIZRARDF)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Energy Development Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 153,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

BHEERARZERERARAZBRR
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Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

B T XMEBRERG RN EE BREEIN A
BERRBREESAMASRM 2B EREER
ETERTIE - ZFEBRTE  ARBEVHBAEE
STIRSTHRE 0 LEFBIRETERRIE - URERS
MHRRRE W EERERRANE LS RER -
A ARBEARERSRNEERREE B
BERE R ER -

Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as explained below, we conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. Because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

1. Scope limitation — intangible assets, exploration and

evaluation assets, and deferred tax assets

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2015 are intangible assets, exploration and
evaluation assets, and deferred tax assets with carrying
amounts of HK$1,792,785,000, HK$433,832,000 and
HK$89,796,000 respectively (collectively referred to as the
“Assets”). The Assets were principally acquired by the Group
through acquisition of 100% equity interest in Totalbuild
Investments Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Totalbuild
Investments”) and its subsidiaries (“Totalbuild Transaction”)
during the year ended 31 December 2011 from a company
controlled by Mr. Wang Guoju. As further disclosed in Note
15, 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the
intangible assets represent interests in the petroleum contract,
which was entered between China Era Energy Power
Investment (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary of Totalbuild
Investments, and China National Petroleum Corporation
("“CNPC") to explore, exploit and produce oil and natural gas
in North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC") (the “Petroleum Contract”). Exploration and
evaluation assets represents costs directly associated with
exploratory wells (drilling cost and others) that are capitalised
and deferred tax assets related to exploration and evaluation
activities.
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As at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company
estimated the recoverable amount of the Assets, and noted
that the carrying amount of the intangible assets and
exploration and evaluation assets exceeded the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit of these assets.
Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$1,057,000,000 and
HK$256,000,000 were recognised for the year ended 31
December 2015 on intangible assets and exploration and
evaluation assets. In estimating the recoverable amounts, the
directors of the Company made certain assumptions which
include the future business plan of the oil and gas operation

and the Petroleum Contract will be executed as planned.

As further explained in Note 31(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company was
informed that Mr. Wang Guoju, as guarantor of the vendor for
the Totalbuild Transaction, was formally charged by
prosecution authorities in China for illegal operation crime (the
“Charge"), possibly involving allegations about improper
conduct in obtaining the Petroleum Contract. The directors of
the Company have obtained a legal opinion in respect of the
Charge which state that the Charge is only at a preliminary
stage and it is not possible to estimate the outcome. The
legal opinion also states that if Mr. Wang Guoju is found
guilty for improper conduct in obtaining the Petroleum
Contract this might render the Petroleum Contract to become
voidable. As a result, the Group may not be able to exercise

its right under the Petroleum Contract.

After taking into account of the legal opinion, as to the
remedies, the Company has commenced legal proceedings in
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands against various parties
including Mr. Wang Guoju and the vendor. Despite of the
Charge the directors of the Company consider that the
Petroleum Contract will continue to be valid and will be
executed as the Group have close working relationship with
CNPC and up to the date of the report, there is no indication
from CNPC regarding any potential claim or questioning on

the validity of the Petroleum Contract.
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As at the date of this report, there is no adjudication in
respect of the Charge yet. As a result, we are unable to obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence concerning (i) the
validity of the Petroleum Contract and therefore as to the
ownership of the intangible assets which is one of the major
assets of the Exploration and Production segment of the
Group; and (ii) whether the recoverable amounts and
impairment provisions of the Assets were appropriately
recognised. Any adjustments to the carrying amount of the
Assets found to be necessary would reduce the Group's net
assets as at 31 December 2015, increase the Group's loss for
the year then ended and affect the related elements making
up the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

Uncertainties relating to going concern

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$171,525,000 and incurred a loss of HK$1,281,436,000
for the year ended 31 December 2015. In addition, as
detailed in part 1 above, if the Charge is valid and the
Petroleum Contract is voidable, the Group may not be able to
exercise its right under the Petroleum Contract. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the directors of the Company
have prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis, the appropriateness of which largely
depends upon the outcome of the underlying assumptions as
detailed in Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements which in particular include (i) the Petroleum
Contract continues to be valid; (i) CNPC will pay the proceeds
as agreed in the preliminary gas sharing proposals before 31
December 2016; and (iii) the contractors will not demand the
Company to settle the construction cost payables before the
Company receives the proceeds from the preliminary gas

sharing proposals from CNPC.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

If Mr. Wang Guoju is found guilty for improper conduct in
obtaining the Petroleum Contract as mentioned in part 1
above, the Petroleum Contract may become voidable.
Ownership of the intangible assets and the recoverable
amounts of the Assets, which are the major assets of the
Exploration and Production segment of the Group, will be in
doubt and the Group may not be able to carry out the
business relating to exploration, development, production
and sales of natural gas. In addition, the Company have not
obtained any written document that CNPC will pay the
proceeds before 31 December 2016 and the contractors will
not demand payment of the construction cost payables until
the Company receives the proceeds from CNPC.

Accordingly, we are unable to determine whether it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on the going concern basis. There were no alternative audit
procedures that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the going concern basis is appropriate. Should the
going concern basis be considered inappropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying amounts
of the Group's assets to their realisable values, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Disclaimer of Opinion TERE

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis of ENTERERCEE|RRAIMEECEEN -
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to obtain Az BEDRBEIRS 2 50 BB B BB E AR

sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit BREREE - At ARBETEERE M
opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the BR URGEEUMBHRREECEETEER ARG

consolidated financial statements and whether the consolidated Bl BBERELBRBEERER -

financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BDO Limited BB CERSTTMEXMERAR
Certified Public Accountants HEDAD

Lam Pik Wah MEE

Practising Certificate no. P05325 5 EZ RS P05325

Hong Kong, 31 March 2016 FEB =2 NF=ZHA=+—8
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AEEERmE

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-—FT—aF+-A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-If —T-mE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i THET FHET
Revenue s 6 7,399 37,261
Other income HaA 7 8,408 6,801
Cost of inventories consumed BB ERA (5,281) (34,321)
Staff costs 8 TR 8 (11,882) (11,027)
Operating lease rentals RETHERS 8 (3,287) (5,642)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERZB2ITE
equipment 14 (679) (662)
Fuel costs and utility expenses BB RKEE (410) (483)
Fair value loss of financial assets held FEEBEvemEAEC ATERE
for trading B8 (44,648) (1,.286)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand &9 « BE k& E 2B
equipment 8 - (45)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EREERERE 16 (1,057,000) —
Impairment of exploration and MR &R EERE
evaluation assets 15 (256,000) =
Gain on reversal of impairment of FEE FURE R B 2 Wi
loan receivable 19 22,783 -
Gain on cancellation of convertible notes  sT#4 AR =48 ~ Uiz 24 92,459 -
Other operating expenses Hi&ems (26,572) (17,608)
Finance costs BRE A 24 (9,209) (13,228)
Loss before income tax BRATEBHATER 8 (1,283,919) (40,240)
Income tax credits FTisHig e 9 2,483 3,586
Loss for the year rEEEHE (1,281,436) (36,654)
Other comprehensive income Hit2mE ks
Items that may be reclassified HEATRENIEE
subsequently to profit or loss BEZEAB
Exchange differences arising on MESBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations FE 5, =58 (166,830) (86,177)
Total comprehensive income for AEEZHNEAEE
the year (1,448,266) (122,831)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

catElaE

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—aF+-A=1—HIFE

2015 2014
= —TmF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE FHET F&T
Loss attributable to: THIELESIE -
Owners of the Company EAYNSIEZ 2PN (1,281,436) (36,654)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RE R - =
(1,281,436) (36,654)
Total comprehensive income THEE2EEREEE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE 2SN (1,448,266) (122,831)
Non-controlling interests EIS Uiy _ _
(1,448,266) (122,831)
Loss per share BRER 11
— Basic (HK cents) — EARGEW) (13.48) (0.42)
— Diluted (HK cents) — BB OB (13.48) (0.42)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
4 E B S AR R 2R

At 31 December 2015
R-F—AF+=A=+—H

2015 2014
—Z—-HF —T—NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E NG 14 4,252 3,033
Exploration and evaluation assets R EFH L EE 15 433,832 724,908
Intangible assets I EE 16 1,792,785 2,994,689
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 18 89,796 91,836
2,320,665 3,814,466
Current assets REBEE
Loan and interest receivables B ERF S 19 46,803 =
Financial assets held for trading BIEEBZEREE 20 68,442 1,171
Other receivables, deposits and EbpEWERIE - 58 RIERRE
prepayments 21 6,995 6,269
Amounts due from related companies  FEUREFE A FIFIE 23 9,137 7,196
Cash and bank balances B4 RIBITHEES 204,278 370,735
B S I 335655 . 385,371
Total assets BEMAE 2,656,320 4,199,837
Current liabilities i p=Ri=
Trade payables JESBRFX 22 2,889 2,889
Other payables and accruals H fth B 2008 K FEET FRIE 22 463,889 475,890
Amount due to a shareholder FE— 2SR A 23 40,402 40,402
507,180 519,181
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (171,525) (133,810)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABEE 2,149,140 3,680,656
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ma AR R R

At 31 December 2015
R-B—aF+-_H=+—H

2015 2014
“E-AF —E—pEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
B 5T FET FHET
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible notes AR EE 24 52,234 135,484
Deferred tax liabilities Hfth fE{f T8 18 53 53
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, SEESAN 135537
Net assets BESE 2,096,853 3,545,119
Equity R
Share capital PR 25 475,267 475,267
Reserves HE 1,620,833 3,069,099
Attributable to owners of the ViN/NETE F N )
Company 2,096,100 3,544,366
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A 753 753
Total equity AR 2,096,853 3,545,119
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue EFEEER T RNFZA=1+—HIEREET
by the board of directors on 31 March 2016. BRERERE o
Zhao Guogiang Chui Kwong Kau
i B o BEHIR
Director Director
EFE E
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEREEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-—FT—aF+-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHEE AL
Convertible Non-
Issued Contributed Share notes  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital surplus  premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total  interests equity
B4 BE:
BRTRE RABH RORE REBERE QRERG B ] Nt OFERER  BEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THL TEr THL TEL THL TEL THL TET
(note 28(a))  (note 28(b))  (note 28 (c))
(Miit28(a)  (FisE28(b)  (PiEE28(c)
Balance at 1 January 2014 RZZ-NE-A—H
kS 396,056 30,004 1598392 2,005,233 157,737 (680,231) 3,507,191 753 3,507,944
Total comprehensive income ~ RAEE2AMFHEE
for the year - - - - (86,177) (36,654)  (122,831) - (122,831)
Issue of share capital TR 79,211 = 80,795 = = = 160,006 - 160,006
Balance at 31 December 2014 R=ZE—NFE
TZA=t-Bz&H 475,267 30,004 1,679,187 2,005,233 71,560 (716,885) 3,544,366 753 3,545,119
Total comprehensive income ~ AFE2HEMHLEH
for the year - - - - (166,830) (1,281,436)  (1,448,266) - (1,448,266
Cancellation of convertible EETRRE
notes (Note 24) (Mizx24) = = - (1,309,405) - 1,309,405 - - -
Balance at 31 December 2015 M=Z—h%E
TZA=T—Bz&H 475267 30,004 1,679,187 695,828 (95,270)  (688,916) 2,096,100 753 2,096,853
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE—F—aF+-A=1—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-fHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET F&T
Cash flows from operating activities REERESRE
Loss before income tax BFr SR AIEE (1,283,919) (40,240)
Adjustments for: MATHEBEEHAR !
Interest expenses FlEmMAX 9.209 13,228
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERREITE
equipment 679 662
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE - BEREEZEBER
and equipment = 45
Interest income IS ON (11) (28)
Fair value loss of financial assets BEBEEZSREEZ
held for trading NHEEEE 44,648 1,286
Exchange gain, net BE 5 s F B (4,394) (6,315)
Reversal of provision of long service RERBSED
payment = (86)
Written off of other payables and T 8 H At FE ST RUIB R FE AT RRIR
accruals (4,000) (271)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERE 1,057,000 —
Impairment of exploration and WERFHEERE
evaluation assets 256,000 -
Gain on reversal of impairment of B m W E R EWES
loan receivable (22,783) -
Gain on cancellation of convertible EEE AR R 2 W
notes (92,459) -
Operating cash flows before FFABEERZPHLY
working capital changes BERE (40,030) (31,719)
Decrease in inventories HFERD - 9,059
Decrease in trade receivables JRE LT B R - 10
Increase in loan and interest receivables  FEUYE FX & FI S8 N (46,803) -
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HEIWFIAE « 314 RIENFIE
deposits and prepayments (#m), m (1,004) 755
(Increase)/decrease in amounts e BRsE N AR IB (38 h0), R
due from related companies (1,941) 1,311
Decrease in trade payables FETRR TR A = (3,847)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables ot N I K fE AR IE
and Accruals = Crd) 14,756 (77,319)
Decrease in amount due to e —IREE R Rl 5B
a related company - (5,073)
Cash used in operations REXBRBAZRE (75,022) (106,823)
Interest received B U FS 11 28
Income tax paid EIETEH 2 -
Net cash used in operating activities REXBFBARSEE (75,013) (106,795)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ IE%UILE%%

For the year ended 31 December 2015
BE-—FT—aF+-A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—ZE-hF —ZT—uF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Cash flows from investing activities REXEBESRE
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEMZE - BB MRk
equipment (2,030) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BB RREE
plant and equipment B - 20
Repayment of loan receivables FE B B 22,783 =
Acquisition of financial assets held WEBIIEEEZomEE
for trading (172,016) (31)
Cash proceeds from disposal of HERFEEEZORMEEY
financial assets held for trading e FERIE 60,097 67
Net cash (used in)/from REEX®K (BA), FELERS
__investing activites ~~  ®® G1166) 5
Cash flows from financing activities MEXBKESRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN TS FIE - 160,006
Net cash from financing MEEBFELERSFE
cEEmes o TR N 160,006 _
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeERERBE ORD), /18 inFEHE
cash equivalents (166,179) 53,267
Cash and cash equivalents at FHzBREREFRS
beginning of year 370,735 317,452
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes BB c@® N @78 )
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZESRERRE
end of year, comprising cash BERERBITER
and bank balances 204,278 370,735
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Organisation and Operations

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 4 April 2001
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands. Its principal place
of business is located at Units 5611-12, The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The shares of Company have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK") with
effect from 18 February 2002.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are

described in note 17.

Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 January
2015
During the year, the Group has adopted a number of
amendments to the HKFRSs which did not have material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NP Ed

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative'
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation'
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'
HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations'
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

No mandatory effective date yet determined but it is
available for immediate adoption

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative
The amendments are designed to encourage entities to
use judgement in the application of HKAS 1 when

considering the layout and content of their financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative
(Continued)

An entity’s share of other comprehensive income from
equity accounted interests in associates and joint
ventures will be split between those items that will and
will not be reclassified to profit or loss, and presented in

aggregate as a single line item within those two groups.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 — Clarification
of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the use of a
revenue-based depreciation method for items of
property, plant and equipment. The amendments to
HKAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that
amortisation based on revenue is not appropriate for
intangible assets. This presumption can be rebutted if
either the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of
revenue or revenue and the consumption of the
economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly

correlated.

Amendments to HKAS 27 — Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity
method in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates in its separate financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

70

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows (the business model test) and that have
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow
characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised
cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash
flow characteristics test are measured at FVTOCI if the
objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold
and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at
FVTPL.

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment
model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL
replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new
general hedge accounting requirements to allow entities
to better reflect their risk management activities in
financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income unless that
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39
for derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to
be recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets
to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full,
conversely when the transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in

the joint venture or associate

Amendments to HKFRS 11 — Accounting for
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments require an entity to apply all of the
principles of HKFRS 3 Business Combinations when it
acquires an interest in a joint operation that constitutes
a business as defined in that standard. The principles of
HKFRS 3 are also applied upon the formation of a joint
operation if an existing business as defined in that

standard is contributed by at least one of the parties.
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31 December 2015
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2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle of the
framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS
18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and

related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach

to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each

performance obligation

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular
revenue related topics that may change the current
approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also
significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative

disclosures related to revenue.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial application and the directors are not yet in a
position to quantify the effects on the Group's financial

statements.

Amended Main Board Listing Rules (as below-
mentioned) relating to the presentation and disclosures
in financial statements

The amended Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the
“Amended Main Board Listing Rules”) in relation to the
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
including the amendments with reference to the new
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622, apply to

the Group in this financial year.

The directors consider that there will be no impact on
the Group's financial position or performance. However
the Amended Main Board Listing Rules would have
impacts on the presentation and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements.
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74

Basis of Preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
"HKFRSs"”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption

(i) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair
values as explained in the accounting policies set

out below.

(i) Going concern basis
During the year, the Group has incurred a loss of
HK$1,281,436,000 (2014: HK$36,654,000) and at
the end of reporting period, its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$171,525,000
(2014: HK$133,810,000). These conditions
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore, the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal

course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TS ERARMEE

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

(ii)

Going concern basis (Continued)

As further explained in Note 31(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company was informed that Mr. Wang Guoju
was formally charged by prosecution authorities in
China for illegal operation crime (the “Charge”),
possibly involving allegations about improper
conduct during the obtaining of the petroleum
contract, which was entered into with China
National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC") to
drilling, exploration and production of oil and
natural gas in North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") (the
“Petroleum Contract”). After taking into account
of the legal opinion, the directors of the Company
consider that the Charge is only at a preliminary
stage as at 31 December 2015 and up to the
present, the directors of the Company is not in the
position to assess its possible impact on the
Group’s oil and gas operation and financial
position. According to the legal opinion from the
Group's legal advisors, the Group may not be able
to exercise its right under the Petroleum Contract
if Mr. Wang Guoju is found guilty for improper
conduct during the obtaining of the Petroleum
Contract which might render the contract voidable.
However, the directors consider that they have
long-term and regular working relationship with
CNPC and up to now, did not receive any
notification from CNPC declaring the Petroleum
Contract is voidable, and so they expected that
the Petroleum Contract will continue to be valid

and will be executed as planned.

3.
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3. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

(ii)

Going concern basis (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the directors are still
negotiating with CNPC with the view to signing
the Gas Sales Agreements (“GSA") and expected
the negotiation of the GSA will complete in the
year 2016. The GSA with CNPC covers a number
of provisions, such as terms of the GSA, quantity
of volume commitments, gas quality, price terms,
delivery obligations and delivery point etc. The
key outstanding point which the Group has yet to
agree with CNPC is the unit price of gas. The
natural gas pricing reform close the price gap
between imported and local gas prices. The
reformed pricing mechanism on natural gas is a
major reference point for the Group to negotiate
the pricing terms with CNPC.

The Group has been carrying out exploration
activities at the site and now working with
professional parties to prepare the Overall
Development Program (“ODP") which required
government approval before full production could
be started. As at 31 December 2015, the approval
of ODP from National Development and Reform
Commission has not yet been obtained. The delay
in finalising the ODP is the major reason for the
delay in government approval. Base on current
information available to the directors, the directors
expect that the ODP should be ready by 2017 and
the development and production period should
start immediately after obtaining relevant

government approval.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e TS ERARMEE

3. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

(ii)

Going concern basis (Continued)

As an interim measures to strengthen the Group's
cash flow before the signing of the GSA, a
preliminary natural gas sharing proposal is
discussed and agreed by the joint management
committee of Kashi project which comprises
representatives from CNPC and the Group at 18
February 2014 (“the Proposal”). Based on the
Proposal, the Group will receive the proposed
distribution of natural gas from pilot-production
which was extracted and delivered before 1
January 2014. The 2nd natural gas sharing
proposal is discussed and agreed by the joint
management committee at 3 March 2015 (the
“2nd Proposal”) which covers the natural gas from
pilot-production which was extracted and
delivered during the year ended 31 December
2014. Up to the date of this report, the Company
is still negotiating with CNPC with the view to
signing the proposal which covers the natural gas
from pilot-production which was extracted and
delivered during the year ended 31 December
2015. However, the unit price in the preliminary
sharing proposals is only a preliminary unit price
used for this preliminary sharing, the final unit
price is still subject to change and would only be
confirmed after the formal GSA signed. Up to the
date of approval of these financial statements, the
Group has not yet received the proceeds as
agreed in the preliminary sharing proposals, and
the directors are still negotiating with CNPC to fix
the payment schedule. Based on currently
available information, the directors expect the
proposed distribution from the Proposal and 2nd

Proposal will be received during year 2016.
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B3

78

Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

(ii)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The Group's current liabilities as at 31 December
2015 are mainly attributable to exploration and
evaluation cost payables amounting to
HK$421,119,000, and directors of the Company
confirm that these contractors are aware of the fact
that the Company is in the process of negotiating
the settlement dates of the above mentioned
proceed from preliminary gas sharing proposals,
and hence these contractors are not expected to
demand payment of the construction costs until
CNPC has settled the proceed as agreed in the
preliminary gas sharing proposals. However, no
written confirmation from these contractors has
been obtained to confirm that they will not
demand repayment before the Company receive
proceed from CNPC.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors
have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow
forecast of the Group covering a period of not less
than twelve months from the end of the reporting
period based on certain underlying assumptions
including (i) the Petroleum Contract continues to
be valid; (i) CNPC will pay the proceeds as agreed
in the preliminary gas sharing proposals before 31
December 2016; and (iii) the contractors will not
demand the Company to settle the construction
cost payables before the Company receive the
proceed from preliminary gas sharing proposals
from CNPC. Taking into account the above
assumptions, the directors of the Company
consider the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the twelve months from
31 December 2015.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption

(Continued)

(i) Going concern basis (Continued)
Should the use of the going concern basis in
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements be determined to be not appropriate,
adjustments would have to be made to write down
the carrying amounts of the Group's assets to their
realisable value, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the

consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional

currency of the Company.

4. Significant Accounting Policies

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in

profit or loss.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the effective
dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of
disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with those used

by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair
value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, to measure the non-controlling interest that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which

case the costs are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they
arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are

recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
interest and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or

liabilities were disposed of.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

82

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use
its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of

control.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company'’s
statement of financial position at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there
is a contractual arrangement that confers joint control
over the relevant activities of the arrangement to the
group and at least one other party. Joint control is
assessed under the same principles as control over

subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c)

Joint arrangements (Continued)
The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as

either:

o Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only

the net assets of the joint arrangement; or

J Joint operations: where the group has both the
rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of

the joint arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint

arrangements, the Group considers:

J The structure of the joint arrangement;

o The legal form of joint arrangements structured

through a separate vehicle;

o The contractual terms of the joint arrangement

agreement; and

o Any other facts and circumstances (including any

other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by
recognising its share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses in accordance with its contractually conferred

rights and obligations.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any

accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.

Other than gas properties, property, plant and
equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost
or valuation net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements ~ 3-6 years or over the term of
the lease; if shorter

Furniture and fixtures 4-8 years
Motor vehicles 6-8 years

Depreciation on gas properties is provided to write off
the cost of the gas properties using the units of
production method utilising the contingent resources or

reserve, as appropriate as the depletion base.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in

profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e)

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Costs directly
associated with an exploratory wells (drilling cost and
others) are capitalised pending a determination of
whether sufficient quantities of potentially economic gas
reserves have been discovered. If it is determined that
commercial discovery has not been achieved, these

costs are charged to profit or loss.

Expenditure incurred in the preliminary exploration

stage are written off as expense as incurred.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting natural resources become demonstrable,
relevant previously recognised exploration and
evaluation assets are reclassified as gas properties under
property, plant and equipment. These assets are

assessed for impairment before reclassification.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
assets is reviewed when facts and circumstances suggest
that the carrying amount of an exploration and
evaluation assets may exceed its recoverable amount.
When one or more of the following events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable, the Group shall perform an impairment

test in accordance with HKAS 36.

J the period for which the Group has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not

expected to be renewed.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e) Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)

. substantive expenditure on further exploration for
and evaluation of natural resources in the specific

area is neither budgeted nor planned.

J exploration for and evaluation of natural resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery
of commercially viable quantities of natural
resources and the Group has decided to

discontinue such activities in the specific area.

. sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration
and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in

full from successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its

recoverable amount.

(f)  Intangible assets
(i) Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The interests in petroleum
production sharing contracts were amortised on

unit of production method.
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e TS ERARMEE

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(f)  Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are
tested for impairment annually by comparing their
carrying amounts with their recoverable amounts,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that
they may be impaired. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is

reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been

recognised for the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired (see the accounting policies
in respect of impairment of assets (other than

financial assets) below).
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

88

(9)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease
payments are analysed between capital and interest.
The interest element is charged to profit or loss over the
period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents
a constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital

element reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised
as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over

the term of the lease.

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:

J property, plant and equipment under cost model;
and
J investments in subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(h)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Financial Instruments

(i) Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at initial
recognition, depending on the purpose for which
the asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are initially measured
at fair value and all other financial assets are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase
or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time
frame established generally by regulation or

convention in the marketplace concerned.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets include financial assets held for
trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the

near term.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They arise principally
through the provision of goods and services to
customers (trade debtors), and also incorporate
other types of contractual monetary asset.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method, less any identified impairment losses.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting
period, whether there is any objective evidence
that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is
impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset and that event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of

impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

o granting concession to a debtor because of

debtor’s financial difficulty;

o it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation.

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
any part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance

account for the relevant financial asset.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

92

(i)

China Energy Development Holdings Limited - &1 ElgE/RFZEER B R AR

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For loans and receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent
periods when an increase in the asset’s
recoverable amount can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to a restriction that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are
initially measured at fair value, net of directly

attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables, borrowings, certain
preference shares and the debt element of
convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest

expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Group that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity

instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds of the issue
of the convertible notes and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the
notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible

notes equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible notes is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve
until the embedded option is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible notes equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium).
Where the option remains unexercised at the
expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible
notes equity reserve will be released to the
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised

upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 4. BEREFTBE#E
(i)  Financial Instruments (Continued) () E®WMIBEE)
(v)  Effective interest method ) EERFEZE
The effective interest method is a method of ERNEZRANGAESRE
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset EEEARNRNERABBEAD
or financial liability and of allocating interest B M BIAS AN BT 2 7% °
income or interest expense over the relevant ERMERREREEXAR
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that TaEHEARR s R e HARE (1ni@E A )
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or NERITIR A5 RRR S HA
payments through the expected life of the financial HXHZ &
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.
(vi)  Equity instruments (i) BRATA
Equity instruments issued by the Company are ARBETZRATADRE
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct W Fr S FOR (IR B TTAAR)
issue costs. ABR e
(vii) Derecognition (vii) AU HERR
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the EEeRMEENRARAESRE
contractual rights to the future cash flows in ZAHMENERE  HECHE
relation to the financial asset expire or when the EeREEMBHAEENAS
financial asset has been transferred and the BETHERE IR 2 KR IEHER
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in R AEEFELIEBRAZIE
accordance with HKAS 39. THEE -
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the EANTREZEBHEL - R
obligation specified in the relevant contract is kBN B ERIERZ
discharged, cancelled or expires. HeRBE -
()  Cash and cash equivalents () BekERBES

ReRERBEBREFERE - R1T
BHTZTARRERHAS=1EH K
AT RER A 8840 SE MEFEIR & A&
BEEPRBRIAZEMERRREBR
B RITBEXAREREE BRA
SERTEE B2 TMERAEZR
EXABAERERRE 287 -

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement

of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(k)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in
which the carrying amount of the asset or when they
relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity,
liability, is realised or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting

period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2015
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

0

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probably result in an outflow of economic

benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which they operate (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(m)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in

other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the rates approximating to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets and liabilities
of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at
the end of reporting period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as appropriate).
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss of
group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of
the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve relating to that operation up to the
date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part

of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(n)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Short term benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are
expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees render

the related service.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain employees of the Group have completed
the required number of years of service under the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (the
“Employment Ordinance”) to be eligible for long
service payments upon termination of their
employment. The Group is only liable to make
such payments where the termination meets the
required circumstances specified in the

Employment Ordinance.

Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the

employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 4., BEREFTBE#E
(o) Revenue recognition (o) WzH=mER

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will BRBENZ AR ARER - i HUK

flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if T R (WA AR ) gE R SRt = - E

applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is BT HRAREERERER ¢

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

as follows:

(i)  Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on (i) EERmZWETINE R ZT?E
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which is ﬁﬁéﬂ bk EHREE TES
at the time of delivery and title is passed to R EmRX M RERER T
customer. PR HER -

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time- iy  FIEBUWARERM S REEERE
apportioned basis, taking into account the RNEBA S NEBNERER -
principal amounts outstanding and the interest
rates applicable.

(p) Related parties (p) BEEEAL

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family (@) MWBATAL BIZZALsZ

is related to the Group if that person: AT 2R EE A B -
() has control or joint control over the Group; () HEREEHEGRELRHL
4
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEEBEERTLE X
(ili) is @ member of key management personnel (i) AAREBEHAQAFTFAA
of the Group or the Company'’s parent. WEEEIREKSE -

Annual Report 2015 - 4




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NP Ed

31 December 2015
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 4. BEREFTBE#E
(p) Related parties (Continued) (p) EEHEAL(E)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the b) ffFE THERGY BB
following conditions apply: ik SRR )

()  The entity and the Group are members of () HEREAEEBR %
the same group (which means that each BKERAR(AEER
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is GIRNOIE VNGV AEEN )
related to the others). DN AR LR A R )

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of iy —HEBARS—EBN
the other entity (or an associate or joint ERRARAERE (IS
venture of a member of a group of which the —ERAKERRIZEH
other entity is a member). HETR B AR ZH & AR

REERE) o

(il Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i MEEEHRREA—F=7H
third party. a SR -

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —HEBRFE=FEBEHN
and the other entity is an associate of the BERE MR —EER
third entity. ZE=ZFEBNBEDR

Slo

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan v BBRE/NEBNERNEE
for the benefit of the employees of the BREZERMEENR
Group or an entity related to the Group. R BERARAMET B

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (vi) EEZQ@FMHFHANALTE
by a person identified in (a). 3 52 LB o

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) E(\\(a)(i)ﬁfr%%/”ﬂ}\ié‘f“a’;ﬁi
influence over the entity or is a member of EEATENXBLER
key management personnel of the entity (or (3% EZE‘EEE’J! EIDEE
of a parent of the entity). EIRERE -

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of (viiipy BEEsKHE ABKIOME
which it is a part, provides key management ErEAKE R MAS
personnel services to the Group or to the By AREGRRIREEE
Group's parent. 2EIEABRT °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(p) Related parties (Continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year

are addressed below.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group makes impairment provision for loans and
receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability
of the balance. Provisions are applied to loans and
receivables where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the balance may not be collectible. The
identification of impaired loans and receivables requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of loans and
receivables and provision for impaired loans and
receivables in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial condition of the debtors were

to deteriorate, impairment loss may be required.

Estimation of oil and gas resources and/or reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas
reserves and resources as inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There are authoritative guidelines regarding
the engineering criteria that have to be met before
estimated oil and gas reserves can be designated as
“proved”. Proved reserves estimates will be updated at
least annually and take into account recent production
and technical information about each field. In addition,
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proved reserves also changes. The change
will be considered as a change in estimation for
accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective

basis in related depreciation rates.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited - &1 ElgE/RFZEER B R AR

5. MRETHERMETTHBRE
ZEBRIR (4)

(i)

(ii)

ERRERRIEZRE
AEERIR T E KB WSR2
FJ Uy [ A2 2 R R T S B R R R
FRREHREREE -  —BEFEHXE
MEBBEURRERE A s EAMEE
Ba &5 N e IR B - &
MEREZER M ERFRIAARER
HIE e fh 5t o MRl EBER KM
BRNERE- V-2 ) SACREE
ZEERNEFR M EWGIRZ REER
R R R W R IE 2 B - BT A
BB - AIBHZELRE
B8 o

HMRERR, B
ENRBEELERS REBNHE -
AEBEMRLERFEEN TRMAEF
BERENTBRENE  XYEBHEEH
o MERRMETRER [RAR
Elzr FTR2ERETEBEIER
ERREIEIES - RAREN G
ELFEFERH R X AZEHA
RAAMEEMBMER  tesh - R
B RKAKFIREREE - Bt - &
RREENMFTLELREE - L a5
BHME  SLEFHHERAMHE
R - WiIRTR AR ERREARRE AT
Exdq -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. Ciritical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Estimation of oil and gas resources and/or reserves
(Continued)

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
depreciation expense, impairment expense and future
dismantlement costs. Depreciation rates are determined
based on estimated proved reserve quantities (the
denominator) and capitalised costs of producing
properties (the numerator). Producing properties’
capitalised costs are amortised based on the unit-of-

production method.

Recognition of deferred income tax

According to the accounting policy as stated in Note
4(k), deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and tax losses can be utilised, and it is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax assets are
realised. In determining the deferred income tax assets
to be recognised, management is required to estimate
the future applicable tax rate for each subsidiary of the
Company at each tax jurisdiction and the profitability of
each subsidiary, so as to estimate the future utilisation
of tax losses. Any difference between these estimates
and the actual outcome will impact the Group's result in

the period in which the actual outcome is determined.
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5. MRETHERMETTHBRE
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

Revenue

Pursuant to the Petroleum Contract disclosed in note
16, China Era Energy Power Investment (Hong Kong)
Limited (“China Era") is entitled to gas generated from
the Akemomu Gas Field during the exploration period
in accordance to the entitlement method stated on the
Petroleum Contract. During the year ended 31
December 2015, 142,820,000 (2014: 202,670,000) cubic
meters of gas was produced by the jointly controlled
operation. According to the Petroleum Contract, all gas
produced from the Akemomu Gas Field should be sold
to CNPC, unless otherwise agreed and a GSA should be
entered into by CNPC and China Era to specify the unit
price charged by CNPC to the jointly controlled
operation. As at 31 December 2015, the GSA has not
yet been signed between the Group and CNPC. In the
absence of the GSA, the Group considered that there is
material uncertainty of the unit price and hence relevant
gas revenue could not be estimated reliably and no
revenue can be recognised during the year. Based on
the current information available to the directors, the
directors expected that the GSA could be finalised in
the year of 2016. As disclosed in note 3(b), the unit price
in the preliminary sharing proposals is only a preliminary
unit price used for preliminary sharing, and the final unit
price are still subject to change and would only be
confirmed after the formal GSA signed. Therefore, the
relevant revenue could not be estimated reliably and no

revenue can be recognised during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. Ciritical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(v)

Impairment on exploration and evaluation assets and
intangible assets

The Group tests the exploration and evaluation assets
and intangible assets for impairment according to
accounting policies stated in notes 4(e) and 4(f). The
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations
which require the use of assumptions and estimates.
While conducting an impairment review of the assets,
the Group makes certain judgement in making
assumptions including the future gas prices and
production costs, changes in these estimates may result
in significant variance to the statement of
comprehensive income. As disclosed in note 3(b), the
unit price to be shared is not yet determined and will be
confirmed upon signing the formal GSA. In estimating
the value in use of exploration and evaluation assets and
intangible assets, the Group has made reference to
prevailing gas prices in the relevant markets. As at 31
December 2015, the carrying amount of exploration and
evaluation assets and intangible assets was
approximately HK$433,832,000 and HK$1,792,785,000
respectively (2014: approximately HK$724,908,000 and
HK$2,994,689,000 respectively), net of impairment of
approximately HK$256,000,000 and HK$1,057,000,000
respectively (2014: approximately Nil and Nil)

recognised during the year.
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Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(vi)

Validity of the Petroleum Contract

As described in Note 31(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company was informed
that Mr. Wang Guoju was formally charged by
prosecution authorities in China for illegal operation
crime, possibly involving allegations about improper
conduct during the obtaining of the petroleum contract,
which was entered into with CNPC to drilling,
exploration and production of oil and natural gas in
North Kashi Block, Tarim Basin in the PRC. Refer to the
legal opinion obtained by the Company from its legal
advisors, the Group may not be able to exercise its right
under the Petroleum Contract if Mr. Wang Guoju is
found guilty for improper conduct during the obtaining
of the Petroleum Contract which might render the
contract voidable. However, the directors consider that
they have long-term and regular working relationship
with CNPC and up to now, did not receive any
notification from CNPC declaring the Petroleum
Contract is voidable, and so they expected that the
Petroleum Contract will continue to be valid and will be
executed as planned. Where the actual outcome of the
Charge is different with the directors’ expectation and
with significant adverse change, it will have significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements, in
particular the Group's intangible assets, exploration and

evaluation assets and deferred tax assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(vii) Going concern

The directors of the Company have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on the assumption
that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the foreseeable future, which is a critical
judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the
directors, about the future outcome of events or
conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors
consider that, after taking into account of all major
events or conditions, which may give rise to business
risks, that individually or collectively may cast significant
doubt upon the going concern assumption as set out in
Note 3(b)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern.

Revenue and Segment Information

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker in order to allocate resources to the
segment and to assess its performance. In accordance with
the Group's internal organisation and reporting structure, the
operating segments are based on nature of business.

The Group has the following three reportable segments:

The Exploration and Production segment is engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sales of natural
gas.

The Sales of Food and Beverages Business segment is
engaged in the sales of food and beverages.

The Money Lending Business segment is engaged in provision
of loans to third parties, which is a new business commenced
during the year and identified as a reportable segment as a
result of its importance to the total revenue of the Group.

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR ER AR M AT

31 December 2015
—E-AFf+=ZA=+—H

6. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 6. WmEKkoMER @)

The segment information provided to the directors of the HE-_ZT—AFE-_T—NF+_A=+—
Company for the reportable segments for the years ended 31 HIEFE @ BT 2| HFRAR R EFRM
December 2015 and 2014 are as follows: B D HERAT ¢
(@) Information about reportable segment revenue, profit (a) FEHEUS{IJBWE  RARNEEN
or loss and other information ERRHEAMER
Sales of
Exploration Food and Money
and Beverages Lending
Production Business Business Total
HERER
BHEREE REIER BEX® Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT TERT TET TAERT
For the year ended HE-Z-1%
31 December 2015 TZA=+—-HLEE
Revenue from external IR P s
customers

Reportable segment loss before 7] 23k %35k A5 H Al

income tax B8
Segment results included: DEEERIE
Impairment loss on intangible & A EREEE
assets

Impairment of exploration and & & & & E R (E
evaluation assets

Interest income MBKA

Depreciation e

Additions to non-current assets  JEREIEERE
Reportable segment assets A2HDHERE
Reportable segment liabilites AT 2£HHHEE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

6. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 6. Wk oBER#)
(@) Information about reportable segment revenue, profit () FEBETR2mAIBUE - BFIREEN
or loss and other information (Continued) BERREMER (E)
Sales of
Exploration Food and Money
and Beverages Lending
Production Business Business Total
HERMR
BHENEE REES HWEES &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAEL
For the year ended BE-Z-—NF
31 December 2014 +=A=t+-HLEE
Revenue from external LN S SIE
customers - 37,261 - 37,261

Reportable segment (loss)/profit =] 235 &bk TS HL Al

before income tax (B1R),/%HM (12,604) 547 = (12,057)
Segment results included: DHEFERRE
Interest income MEWA 28 - - 28
Depreciation hE 618 44 - 662
Additions to non-current assets  FEREEERE 15,023 = = 15,023
Reportable segment assets AR BEE 3,927,494 9,217 - 3,936,711
Reportable segment liabilities EFDHEE (465,874) (7,125) = (472,999)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

6. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 6. WmRHBER &)
(b)  Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (b) WEFIWBBEANESE BEREER
assets and liabilities ZH R
2015 2014
—E-HF —=—E
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before income tax MRATEBATEE
Reportable segment loss before Al 2D SR FTSFL AT ES 18
income tax (1,327,112) (12,057)
Other income Hilg A 4,008 1
Fair value loss of financial assets HEEBEZEMEEC AT EE
held for trading E1E (44,648) (1,286)
Finance costs B R A (9,209) (13,228)
Gain on reversal of impairment of U E FURER D 2 W
loan receivable 22,783 -
Gain on cancellation of convertible TR E S 2 W
notes 92,459 -
Unallocated head office and AOBARERNARMY
corporate expenses (22,200) (13,670)
Loss before income tax FR PSR A IE 18 (1,283,919) (40,240)
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e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

6. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 6. WmRDHBER &)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, (b)

assets and liabilities (Continued)

TEHRSWEANRER - EERAE
ZHER (&)

2015 2014
—E-HF —= e
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets ERDIPEE 2,333,706 3,936,711
Deferred tax assets FEER B EE 89,796 91,836
Other receivables b fE W kIR 1,610 48
Financial assets held for trading BEEEEZOMEE 68,442 1,171
Unallocated head office and AOBAWER R ATIEE (MiE)
corporate assets (note) 162,766 170,071
Total assets WEEE 2,656,320 4,199,837
2015 2014
—E-HF —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities EEEE R =E 458,776 472,999
Deferred tax liabilities FRETRIBEE 53 53
Convertible notes SR ERE 52,234 135,484
Amount due to a shareholder FEN — B IR I8 40,402 40,402
Unallocated head office and ROMBMREERARIERE
corporate liabilities 8,002 5,780
Total liabilities watfs 559,467 654,718

Note: Unallocated corporate assets included cash and bank
balances amounting to HK$162,766,000

(2014:HK$170,071,000).

MisE: RAPEAREEREERE S RIBTE
£ £ HE162,766,0008 T (=
—PO4 : 170,071,000/ 7T) °

Annual Report 2015 - 4% [N




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

6. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued) 6. Wk oBER#)
()  Geographic information (0 HEER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's TREVAEBEEREINBEPLZ
revenue from external customers and non-current assets WaHRIFRBEECREHIEEER
other than deferred tax assets (“Specified non-current ST EFERBIBE ) I HT -
assets”).
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENBEF 2 W EEFRBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-If —T—WNE —TB-IHFf —TWOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT FHET FHT
Hong Kong (place of &5 (FEfth2h)
domicile) 7,399 37,261 1,970 122
PRC =a - - 2,228,899 3,722,508
7,399 37,261 2,230,869 3,722,630
7. Other Income 7. Hftlg A

2015 2014
—E-AF —ET-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank interest income SRITH BULA 11 28
Sundry income AETEUA 3 =
Reversal of long service payment KRG & #E - 86

Government subsidy for disposal of &SRB ZBUF#E)
motor vehicle - 101
Written off of other payables and accruals B EL b E A5 FROE K FEET IR 4,000 271
Exchange gain b 5 Yz 4,394 6,315
8,408 6,801
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e SRR MR

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

8. Loss before Income Tax 8. BRFTBHAIEIE
2015 2014
—B-1F — ik
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before income tax is arrived at BETS RTS8 B 0Bk -

after charging:

Auditor's remuneration BRI & 960 921
Cost of inventories consumed KOBRFERA 5,281 34,321
Compensation of a legal claim BE-ITEERR - 4,250
Depreciation of property, plant and mE¥E - BERSBEZITE

equipment 679 662
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - B REEEBE

equipment = 45
Impairment of intangible assets BREERE 1,057,000 -
Impairment of exploration and BR R EERE

evaluation assets 256,000 -

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) B TIRA(BEEEHE)

— Wages and salaries and other benefits — IEREE MEMERN 11,794 10,900
— Pension fund contributions — RIRFTEIHER 88 127
11,882 11,027

Operating lease rentals mEHERS
— Related companies — BB AT - 555
— Third parties —%=h 3,287 5,087
3,287 5,642
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e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

9. Income Tax Credits 9. FBBESR
The amount of taxation in the consolidated statement of FETERGRANTERE
comprehensive income represents:
2015 2014
—E-HE —EF—NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Current tax BPEAT 1A
— tax for the year — AEEFIE (2) (4)
Deferred tax — current year (Note 18) RIERIIE — RNFE (FFEE18) 2,485 3,590
Total income tax credits FSDiR R R 2,483 3,586
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014:16.5%) on BB MEBIIRE F NGRS TR
the estimated assessable profits for the year. PRC enterprise 16.5% (ZZF —PO%F : 16.5%) BLEFHH o
income tax is calculated at 25% (2014: 25%) on the estimated B 1> F PSR Th IR IR A 5T B SR B i A1) 1%
assessable profit for the year. BE25% (ZF—M4F : 25%)5 8
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BB MR

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

nv-_r\
FrEHER &)

Income Tax Credits (Continued) 9.

AEEFFHERITEEGE2AKERALZ
MrPTISTI AT E B AR AT ¢

The income tax credits for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

10.

2015 2014
—E-T0f —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Loss before income tax MrETS T AT E 18 (1,283,919) (40,240)
Effect of tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of & BRI E 16.5%
16.5% (2014: 16.5%) (ZZ—F : 16.5%)
2SR (211,847) (6,639)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries REAMENERRELE 2B AT
operating in other jurisdiction MEIRzFE (888) (1,283)
Tax effect of income not taxable for IERBMBAZ B2
tax purposes (20,441) 1)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TANBRE 2 BHTE
tax purposes 229,337 3,674
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses HRBEEE BB E = 29
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised KR Z AE AT AR 2 B
T 1,356 782
Income tax credits for the year FRMEHER (2,483) (3,586)
Dividend 10. BE
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 BE_ T AF+-_A=t—HLFELE

December 2015 (2014: Nil), nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of reporting period (2014: Nil).

) o
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e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

11. Loss per Share M. BREE
(a) Basic (@) E=X
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss BREAREBEIIHARNRIER ABIG
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted EEBR A FEAB BT RRNETS
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the HETE -
year.
2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Loss attributable to owners of RATHEA NEGEE
the Company (1,281,436) (36,654)
Number of Number of
shares shares
RZEE Petn 1 B
Weighted average number of BEITERRMETHE
ordinary shares in issue 9,505,344,000 8,645,956,734
HK Cents HK Cents
AL il
Basic loss per share FREAREIE (13.48) (0.42)
(b) Diluted (b) #F
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share HE_Z—AFE-_Z—NF+=-A
for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 as the =t HLESEZEREEHRES
potential ordinary shares on convertible notes are anti- IREAREBAR - LTy R R AT#
dilutive. WRRiE 2 BT B A REEEILE -
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e MR R AR MY R

12. Directors’ Remuneration

Year ended 31 December 2015

12. EEZME

31 December 2015
—E-AFFr-A=+—H

BE-Z—HF+-A=+—HLEFE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits scheme 2015
fees inkind contributions Total
e 2HR —E-HF
Lk BEYWAE BRGEHRK BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TER TER
Executive directors HITES
Chui Kwong Kau BBk
Zhao Guogjiang HE
Non-executive director FBTES
Gu Quan Rong B2
Independent non-executive BYFYTES
directors
Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing (i) BEER (i)
Sun Xiaoli (ii) D)
Wang Yongguang (jii) TEAKHK (i)

Zong Ketao (iv)

RENE (v)

(i) Mr. Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing retired on 26 January 2016.

(ii) Mr. Sun Xiaoli resigned on 16 June 2015.

(i) BEREEENR-_T-—RF-AZ+ AR
£

(i) HHEBREEN_ZT-RFATRBEHE-

(i)  Mr. Wang Yongguang re-designated as a non-executive (i) EXRNEERZZT—AR"F—A=+FEAHA

director on 25 January 2016.

(iv)  Mr. Zong Ketao appointed on 21 July 2015.

(vy  Mr. Cheng Chun Ying and Mr. Lee Man Tai appointed as (v)

ERIFNTES -

vy FREREER-_Z-AFLtA-+—HE
ZfE -

BIREAERFXRFEENR T —RF—
AT RABZERBUIFNTES -

independent non-executive directors on 26 January 2016.
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NP Ed

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

12. Directors’ Remuneration (Continued) 12. EEZENE€ (@)

Year ended 31 December 2014

BE_Z-NF+-A=t—-RHILFE

Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors’ and benefits scheme 2014
fees in kind contributions Total
e 2R —E-mEF
ek EWMFlam ARG B Fok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAxT FAT
Executive directors BITES
Chui Kwong Kau Bk - 455 17 472
Huang Changbi (i) =2E() 356 - - 356
Zhao Guogiang R 1,347 - - 1,347
Zhang Zhenming (ii) SRR A (ii) 357 = = 357
Non-executive director FHTES
Gu Quan Rong (i) BB 2 25 (i) = = = =
Independent non-executive BIUKHITES
directors
Fu Wing Kwok, Ewing HEEE 180 - - 180
Sun Xiaoli RER 180 - - 180
Wang Yongguang TEKE 180 - - 180
2,600 455 17 3,072

(i) Mr. Huang Changbi resigned on 2 December 2014.

(i) Mr. Zhang Zhenming resigned on 27 November 2014.

(i) Dr. Gu Quan Rong appointed on 3 September 2014.

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
Nil). No emoluments were paid by the Company to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company or as compensation for loss of office during the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).
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13. Individuals with Highest Emoluments 13.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2014: one) director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 12 above.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2014: four) individuals

who were senior management of the Group were as follows:

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

REHMAL

EREELfuGSHFEMALTED  — (=
T-OF: D) ARAEFZHHMN EX
BYFE124% 58 - Hermafs (— T —PU4 « Pufis)
AT (BEREESREERAR) ZFHMT

2015 2014

—ZE-HF —F—-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Wages and salaries and other benefits TERF®AREMER 3,385 2,533
Pension fund contributions BIREHRK 32 9
3,417 2,542

Their emoluments were within the following bands

WE2FHMANF THIEE

2015 2014

—F-I% .

No. of No. of

employees employees

BEAH EE AR

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £% 1,000,000 7T 4 g
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e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. M%¥  BERRKE
Leasehold  Furniture and Motor
improvements fixtures vehicles Total
HENELE BRREE "E e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FHEL THEL FHEL
Cost D%
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—mFE—/F—H 1,001 932 4,793 6,726
Disposal HE (238) (277) - (515)
Exchange differences & =% (19) (15) (113) (147)
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NEFE+=A=+—H 744 640 4,680 6,064
Additions NE - 67 1,963 2,030
Exchange differences [N =5 (36) (33) (227) (296)
At 31 December 2015 WZE-RAF+-RA=+—H 708 674 6,416 7,798

Accumulated depreciation REE

At 1 January 2014 R-_ZE—NFE—H—H 981 555 1,347 2,883
Charge for the year KEEEHR 20 144 498 662
Disposal HE (238) (212) = (450)
Exchange differences [ 5 =58 (19) 9 (36) (64)
At 31 December 2014 R-Z-—mM&E+-A=+—H 744 478 1,809 3,031
Charge for the year KEEEHR - 50 629 679
Exchange differences BN ERE (36) (25) (103) (164)
At 31 December 2015 R-E-AF+-RA=+—H 708 503 2,335 3,546

Carrying amount IREE

At 31 December 2015 W_E-—RF+=-A=+—H = 171 4,081 4,252

At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—mE+=A=+—H - 162 2,871 3,033
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15. Exploration and Evaluation Assets

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

15. BERKRFIGEE

2015 2014

—E-AF —F—UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 January n—H—H 724,908 727,183
Additions NE - 15,023
Impairment loss A IEE1R (256,000) -
Exchange differences E W ZRE (35,076) (17,298)
At 31 December R+—_A=1+—H 433,832 724,908

The exploration and evaluation assets represents costs directly
associated with exploratory wells (drilling cost and others) that
are capitalised and pending a determination of whether
sufficient quantities of potentially economic gas reserves have

been discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, provision for
impairment loss of HK$256,000,000 (2014: Nil) was
recognised in profit or loss as the carrying amount of the
related cash generating unit (“CGU") exceeds its recoverable
amount due to the significant and continual decrease in oil
price during the year, which was believed to have reduced the
price-competitiveness and demand of natural gas in the

western part of China (Note 16).

BREFEEERDTRF ZERAAMKE
(BRAAREM) - EBERNE - THfFE
ERABDHIRTHUEN RBELBE UGN
RNRIHEME

BE-_T-—AF+-_A=t—HULEFEE " &
REBREEESEM((REEELEM]) Z
REEBAEATKRESE REBERE
256,000,000/ 7L (Z T — 04 : #) B8
HER  BAFNHERBRFET @ 8E
PR EBRRENRRARERKEAN
FEAE (FEE16) o
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e M HRR M EE

31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

16. Intangible Assets 16. BLEE
HK$'000
THET
Cost AR AN

At 1 January 2014 RZE—MF—A—H 3,067,142
Exchange differences bEH =5 (72,453)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 R-Z—HWF+-_A=+—HxK
—=_F&E—A—AR 2,994,689
Impairment loss (note) REEE (M) (1,057,000)
Exchange differences ME N = E (144,904)
At 31 December 2015 R-E—RAF+=-_A=+—H 1,792,785

122

The intangible assets represent the interests in the Petroleum
Contract which were amortised on unit of production method.

Details of the contract as described as below:

On 22 December 2008, China Era entered into the Petroleum
Contract with CNPC to drilling, exploration, exploitation and
production of oil and/or natural gas in North Kashi Block,
Tarim Basin in the PRC. CNPC is a stated-owned company
established in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Petroleum Contract signed in December
2008, China Era agreed to provide funds and apply its
advanced technology and managerial experience to
cooperate with CNPC for the development and production of
crude oil and/or natural gas in North Kashi Block on Tarim
Basin in Xinjiang, the PRC. The maximum term of the
Petroleum Contract is 30 years from 1 June 2009, subject to

extension.

Pursuant to the Petroleum Contract, China Era shall bear all
costs required for the evaluation operations, and the
development costs shall be borne by CNPC and China Era in
the proportions of 51% and 49%, respectively. In addition,
CNPC'’s portion of operating costs shall be advanced by

China Era and recovered from the production of crude oil.
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16. Intangible Assets (Continued)

Under the terms of the Petroleum Contract, the evaluation
costs, development costs and operating costs are to be
recovered according to a mechanism of cost recovery oil and
investment recovery oil. Remaining oil, after cost recovery, all
applicable taxes and royalty that might apply in the PRC, is
profit sharing oil, which is apportioned between 51% by
CNPC and 49% by China Era.

In March 2015, the Group has issued formal application to
CNPC to apply for a two-year extension of the exploration
period of Kashi project beyond the original deadline of 31
May 2015, as the exploration efforts in the cooperation site
has not been completed. As of the date of this report, the
Group has not received formal notice of extension from
CNPC. The Group will continue to use its best efforts to make
progress on Kashi project and will seek legal advice with the

view to upholding its right if and when appropriate.

The Group has been carrying out exploration activities at the
site and now working with professional parties to prepare the
ODP which required government approval before full
production could be started. As at 31 December 2015, the
approval of ODP from National Development and Reform
Commission has not yet been obtained. The delay in finalising
the ODP is the major reason for the delay in government

approval.

Based on current information available to the directors, the
directors expected that the ODP should be ready by 2017
and the development and production period should start

immediately after obtaining relevant government approval.

Note:

Impairment loss of intangible assets HK$1,057,000,000 was
recognised during the year as the carrying amount of the CGU for the
exploration and production segment exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of the CGU for the exploration and
production segment was HK$2,230,000,000 based on value in use
calculation and by reference to the valuation report produced by an
independent valuer.

16.

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

BILEE®)

REBEBBEH  SFHERAN - RERAREE
PSR 5 X AN [ WK % 42 2 [ WK 4 61 L
Bl - U R A - A BE A e P e E A
BIBEREMNRERGZARME - BB
pom - AR EAREE P EFKRD 0 ME
51% K 49% -

R-Z—RF=F AEERTELHEE
EXRHIT R : AR EERRANER
2B 2R - RUtRTIRE Z Bk
BRRIN-_ZE-—RAFRAA=1T—BIHm$
AR RERSBEAHEERFESSE
HRERMF - BEAREEHAL - KAE
4] 0 AR 2 2 v B O R B 2 AR AT IE S AE AR
BH - AEERSHETHMERNKRMTIEAR
TEDRGER  FARRNEERHES AR
BRAMEEEER -

AEE-BEEMBRRGREE  RIERR
EANTANTIERBRETIZE - MARME
FERAKBITIER T BERRE - R —F—H
F+ZA=+—H0 HARESERERMN
ERBZARAEITRILY WERTER

BAZNEREEBRSBFI X2 TR -

REEXEAARFER  EFEHERMAE
TEEN_F—FRERRE - MAEER
EEMBNIG A BB HLERBERRR -

His -

FRESEREES D2 RSELBMZKAA
BAEA KB CEMERELEEREESR
1,057,000,000 % 7T © ¥R REED 2R EESE
Bz 2 A YL [E] £ %8 4 2,230,000,000 47T * £ HBTY
BIEFEREETERSEB Y AEMOEERS
B -
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31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

16. Intangible Assets (Continued)

124

The review on the reduction in the recoverable amount of the
CGU related to the exploration and production segment. An
impairment loss of HK$1,057,000,000 (2014: Nil) is resulted.
The impairment loss was due to the significant and continual
decrease in oil price during the year, which was believed to
have reduced the price-competitiveness and demand of
natural gas in the western part of China. The Company's
management expected that the downturn of oil price may
continue in the near future and the demand of natural gas
would be lower than previous estimation. The actual volume
of gas production in 2015 was 142,820,000 (2014:
202,670,000) cubic meters. As a result of the decreased oil
price and reduced demand of natural gas, it is necessary and
appropriate to revise the production forecast of Kashi project

for the remaining contract period.

The pre-tax discount rate used for value in use calculations is
19.5% and 16% for the year ended 31 December 2015 and
2014 respectively.

Set out below is the summary of assets, liabilities and results
for the year recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group's interest in the Petroleum

Contract:

(a)  Result for the year
As the project was still under the evaluation period and
commercial production had not yet commenced for the
year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there is no
result recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.
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31 December 2015
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16. Intangible Assets (Continued) 16. BEEE (%)
(b) Assets and liabilities b) EBEREE
2015 2014
—E-afF —ZT O
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Property, plant and equipment Y~ BB NGB 2,432 3,033
Exploration and evaluation assets IR EFHEEE 433,832 724,908
Intangible assets mEE 1,792,785 2,994,689
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIEE E 89,796 91,836
Current assets RENEE 42,838 204,863
Current liabilities mEAaE (449,660) (465,874)
Net assets BEEFE 1,912,023 3,553,455
() Commitments () &iE
2015 2014
—E-HF —=—pE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Capital commitments: B AEE
Contracted but not provided EHEERSTANIE-SEE -
for in respect of:
— Exploration and evaluation — BR R EHER
expenditures 141,254 148,436
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17. Interests in Subsidiaries 17. RRB AT 2
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 ARABIRZE—AF+_A=+—HZxXZ
December 2015 are as follows: A RFBOT
Country/place
Form of business of incorporation/  Country/place of  Principal Issued and fully Percentage of
Name structure establishment operation activities paid share capital interests held
ERRL/ ggax/ BRTR
NAER e RIER/ W% % TEEH BERE BEEZESN
Directly  Indirectly
EE %
China Energy Resources Limited liability company ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Sales of food and ~ Ordinary share 100% -
Holdings Ltd beverages and HK$1
investment
business
PREERERERAR ARRE BE BB HEARRNHE  EERIEL
ZBRRERE
Hon Po International Limited ~ Limited liability company  British Virgin Hong Kong Investment Ordinary shares 100% -
Islands holding US$151
EBERARAH BRAF RERLRE Bk RE#R L@R151%T
Totalbuild Investments Group  Limited liability company ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment Ordinary shares 100% -
(Hong Kong) Limited holding US$1
HERASE(FR)ERDE  BRAF B BB REER LER1ET
China Era Energy Power Limited liability company ~ Hong Kong PRC Oil and gas Ordinary shares - 100%
Investment (Hong Kong) exploration HK$1
Limited
PERERERRE (BE) BRAA BB hE R ERF ERR1ET
BRAT
Zhong Neng Finance Limited liability company ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Money lending Ordinary share - 100%
Limited HK$1
PR AR AR BRAR &b &b & ERR1ET
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—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

18. Deferred Taxation 18. IEFEFIIE
(@) The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities in the (@ NREAMBRAARZELERE(E
consolidated statement of financial position are as =)/ BEEKRBHIWT :
follows:
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities arising from: FEHE(BE) BEEELA !

Exploration Accelerated

Costs tax Tax
(note)  depreciation losses Total
B A ERB R
(Kiat) e HEER b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAET TET
At 1 January 2014 RZZT—F
—HA—H (90,410) 568 (515) (90,357)
Movements for the year  FEEH) (M3 9)

(note 9) (3,590) - - (3,590)
Exchange differences B =58 2,164 = = 2,164
At 31 December 2014 RZE—MF

+=A=+—H” (91,836) 568 (515) (91,783)
Movements for the year ~ FEEH) (H5£9)

(note 9) (2,485) - - (2,485)
Exchange differences BE 3 Z= %A 4,525 = = 4,525
At 31 December 2015 RZT—HF+=A

=—E (89,796) 568 (515) (89,743)
Note: Deferred tax assets represent deductible temporary B BERESERRERETE
difference in relation to exploration and evaluation R S E ) > B A HR = 48
activities in the PRC and the recoverability depends on AT U B B R AR SZIE B 2 KRR &

the future profitability of this project. EE
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18. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 18. IELEMIE (&)
(@) (Continued) (@ (&)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances MMM E 2 BT IBERDT
for financial reporting purposes: LN
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE B (89,796) (91,836)
Deferred tax liabilities RIENIABE 53 53
(89,743) (91,783)
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) RERELEHREEE
The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in ARBYBUR —F-—HF+ A
respect of cumulative tax losses of approximate =T RARABEAREL 91,797,000
HK$91,797,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014 T e
HK$83,781,000) as it is not probable that future taxable RBLERIRLE - REBIER
' . . 0 : MHERBREER T AR EE A
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be

ZEBBIZARBERBOGA  RIFR

available in the relevant tax jurisdiction of the entity. The o N N
TIHABVE - BIBEESTERE -

tax losses will not expire under the current relevant tax

legislation.
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31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

19. Loan and Interest Receivables EBURERRFE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—JE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loan and interest receivables EUE R TS

— money lending business (note a) — MEES (Mta) 46,803 -
— others (note b) — H A (M5Eb) = -
46,803 -

Note: Btat -

As at 31 December 2015, the loan receivables with principal
amounts of HK$46,000,000 (2014: Nil) and related interest
receivables of HK$803,000 (2014: Nil) were due from two (2014:
Nil) independent third parties. These loans are interest- bearing
at rates ranging from 12% to 18% (2014: Nil) per annum.

As at 31 December 2015, loans receivables with principal
amounts of HK$40,000,000 were less than 1 month past due,
which resulted in overdue interest receivables of approximately
HK$735,000 which was fully settled with relevant interest
receivables in February 2016. The remaining balance was
neither past due nor impaired.

Loan receivables of HK$59,883,000 from independent third
parties, which were unsecured, interest-bearing at 0.5% to 1%
per month and repayable within 1 year have been fully impaired
during the year ended 31 December 2011. Of this amount,
HK$37.1 million was loan receivable from Sing Pao Media
Enterprises Limited (formerly known as SMI Publishing Group
Limited)(”Sing Pao"”)), a company listed on SEHK, but trading of
this company’s shares was suspended from 28 April 2005 and
delisted on 18 August 2015. The loan receivable from Sing Pao
is secured by a personal guarantee of a third party. Another
HK$22.8 million was loan receivable from Birmingham
International Holding Limited (“Birmingham”), a company listed
on SEHK. The loan receivable from Birmingham is unsecured.

R-T—hE+-_A=+—08 KX&¥EA
46,000,000 T (= — 4 : &) Z B
B 5% & E B fE U ) 2 803,000 T (=%
—F ) IREBLE=FER - %%
BERIR12%E18% (—T—F : )2 F
FEEE -

RZT—AF+=ZA=+—08 x&H8A
40,000,000 7T 2 W E R E @ E DR —
18R - ELESHIE IR 2 4)735,000 % 7T -
HER -T—XE - U EBRIKH 2%
B - RIS EASURIE ©

FEU S =5 2 FE W B 51 59,883,000 B 7T A&
LI - 1R05% = 1% 2 AFRAEE R
BAR—FRNEE YERBE_ZT——F
TZA=T—BILFERERME - ILEK
TEH ¢ 37,100,000 7 7T 4 JE UL BX ¥R 5 45 5
EBRAR(FBEELREEGRAR)

(THCER]) - ZRBRNB B F LM - B
FZARZBRHNA—ZEZTRFMA—+/\R
REFEERN-_Z-—AFNATN\BR

o B RERERE—RE=H 2@
AFER AR o 55— 22,800,000 7% 7T &
FEUUABR IR BRIE AR AR A R ([1ARE 1)
ZEWER - ZARREBH T L e
FEUEBA 2 B S TR A IR -
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31 December 2015
—E-AFt+=A=+—H

19. Loan and Interest Receivables (Continued) 19. BRERRFE #
Note: (Continued) et - (48)
(b)  (Continued) b) (&)
During the year ended 31 December 2015, a winding-up order RBE_Z-—AF+-_A=+—HILF
was made against Sing Pao and the Group has already B BREEERS  MEEHREBHA
submitted proof of debt form to liquidator of Sing Pao up to KSEEMKRBERARREREZAEK - A
the report date. The Group is now actively considering to take SEEREEERDEETE - MRER
appropriate action to secure the Group's position. SEEA R ©
During the year ended 31 December 2015, Birmingham settled RBE_ZT-—AF+-_A=+—HIEF
the total amount of HK$22,783,000 to the Group, which was - HAYCE &4 522,783,000/ T T
recognised as gain on reversal of impairment of loan AEE ZLeBCRARBKERRERR
receivable. pal &
20. Financial Assets Held for Trading 20. HEEEZERMEE
2015 2014
—E-afF —Z= e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Trading securities listed in Hong Kong, REBEMZEERS -
at fair value BRAFEBE 68,442 1,171
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Other Receivables, Deposits and Prepayments

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

Ef&@u&aﬂlﬁ Tﬁ&ﬁ'ﬁﬁi

2015 2014
—E-0fE —T—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  H i EU KB - 714 RIBN FOBE 18,878 18,152
Refundable deposits — Mr. Wang Jian Guo RERTE — TRETE
(note) (Hraz) 20,725 20,725
777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 39,603 38877
Less: Provision for impairment: W ORERE
— Refundable deposit (note) — AREET & (A7) (20,725) (20,725)
— Other receivables and deposits — Hib B RIE RiR e (11,883) (11,883)
(32,608) (32,608)
6,995 6,269

Note:

On 24 September 2007, Mr. Wang Jian Guo, an independent third
party and Joy Even International Limited (“Joy Even”), a subsidiary of
the Group, entered into the agreement in relation to the proposed
acquisition of the 51% equity interest in each of the target companies,
Bu Tuo County Wu Zhou Minerals Limited Liability Company (17 # £
AMNEEBREMEAF]) and Hui Li County Wan Feng Mining Limited
Liability Company (&2 8% & €15 % 5 R & £ 2 7)) of an aggregate
consideration of RMB498 million (equivalent of HK$516 million) (the
“Agreement”). Both companies are limited liability companies
established in the PRC. The principal activities of both companies are
in the development of mines in the PRC. A refundable deposit of
HK$20,725,000 was paid (equivalent to RMB20,000,000) to Mr. Wang
Jian Guo upon signing of the agreement. On 31 July 2008, the
Company executed the Deed of termination regarding the proposed
acquisitions, whereby subject to the return of the refundable deposit,
both parties shall be released and discharged from their respective
obligations under the Agreement. On 10 March 2011, Joy Even
issued a Writ of Summons against Mr. Wang Jian Guo claiming the
principal and interest on the refundable deposits. On 18 June 2013,
the Court of First Instance adjudged that Mr. Wang Jian Guo shall pay
to Joy Even the sum of RMB22,723,287 or Hong Kong Dollar
equivalent. The Group is now considering actions to recover the said
amount from Mr. Wang Jian Guo. As at 31 December 2015, all of the
refundable deposits were impaired and there is no provision for
impairment (2014: Nil) charged to profit or loss for the year.

Htat -

RZZZLFNAZ+TA - TEEEEBIE
=77) BN ERER AR AR ([HIE]) (A& b

BARDI N ((1H#]) AR BEEEEWER
EARMEGANBEARETARIRSEGE
CREFREEARTBAZSI%RE - BRER
A R 498,000,000 7T ( 48 £ 7 516,000,000 7
TT) e MEIA RIS ARPBK I ZBERAR - £
¥%9ARTEBEES - AEBERETHE
R [A) T 32 B9 5 4 S2 [P AT AR [B1 5] & 20,725,000 7% 7T
(FHER AR 20,000,0007T) ° R =TT N\F+
A=+—B AARBZVBAREZRBEEEZR
IH8E - Bt ARETEBE S - EHHBHBRES
BERpEzET R-T——F=A+8 " HE
MERBELERLEASRK B TREREZ
AEEFE - RZT—=FA+N\A ' RRE
EHRATRELEERARIESHSBARE
22,723,287 LR EEHEIT - AL EIE EE EERER
18) - MERZBEEKRE LileE - R=ZT— A
F+ZA=+—8 "' 2FAIRERSHIERE
BUWERAFEEZEBENBRRERE(ZT—
Fm) o
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—E-AFt+=A=+—H

22. Trade Payables, Other Payables and Accruals 22. EAERF - HEATEREST

MIE
(a) Trade payables (@) MR
An ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group as at AEER_T-—HER_Z-—NF
31 December 2015 and 2014 is as follows: F+TZ A=+ —BZEMERERRD T
W

2015 2014

—E-&HF —ZT—F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Current to 3 months BNEfZ= =@ A - =

Over 1 year —F A E 2,889 2,889

Total trade payables e BR R 4R 2,889 2,889

(b) Other payables and accruals (b) EftENFEREKE
2015 2014
—E—-HF —E-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current portion: BIHAER 5
Exploration and evaluation BN PR R ATl AT AN (B EE ()
cost payables (note(i) 421,119 442,533
Other payables and accruals EAth R RIE R FERTRIR 42,770 33,357
463,889 475,890

Note: Biet -

(i) Exploration and evaluation cost payables represents (i) R A M RRMIE16FTIRE - &
balances payable to sub-contractors engaged by the BN IR B AT Al R AR R e T AR SR
Group to perform exploration and evaluation works on R BABAENIETEZRE#TT
the area designated in the Petroleum Contract as BVRAHE TIE 2 BRE RIS o

disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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23. Amounts Due From/(To) Related Companies
and a Shareholder

(a)

The amounts disclosed hereunder represent amounts

due from related companies in which directors of certain

23.

BB MR

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

nVT\

P () BB DB R —BRR

/S|

(a)

\

AT 2 & RRIE R A R 2K
B MARBETHEARZESER

subsidiaries of the Company have held beneficial EPRHAERER
interests:
Metropolis
Hop Po Group Hon Po Harbour View Hon Po
Name of related (Lobster King) Holdings Jing Hua Chinese Cuisine Investment Total
companies Limited Limited  (Allied) Limited Limited Limited
EEEE
(BBAT) ERER  ZEBA) SRR EERE
BHAR AR BRAF BRAH BRDF BRAT BRDF ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAT FER TAR FAT TAR TAT
Balance 3
At31 December 2015 R=ZT—H%F
+-A=1+-H - - - - 9,137 9,137
At 31 December 2014 RZT—F
+ZA=1+—H 6,883 4 300 9 - 7,196
Maximum outstanding ~ F A& KE
during the year BRE 6,883 4 300 9 9,137 16,333
The directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company RRARIZETHEBLRARF  REEE
who have held beneficial interests of Hon Po Group B (EBEAT)ARLDA - REEA)
(Lobster King) Limited, Jing Hua (Allied) Limited, BRAR - RRFEERAAE - ZEIT
Metropolis Harbour View Chinese Cuisine Limited, Hon BERARILZEREBRARIFE
Po Holdings Limited and Hon Po Investment Ltd are AR ERRRER  MER
namely Chan Nun Chiu, Lim Mai Tak, Grace, Cheung To RBEA - RAENSER o
Seng, Ng Wing Po and She Hing Chiu.
The amounts due from related companies are (b) ﬂlﬁzf‘% BARRIEAEER 28K

unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest

free and is repayable on demand.

BN —2RRKAL/EER B
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—E-AFt+=A=+—H

24. Convertible Notes

134

On 22 January 2009, the Company, Totalbuild Investments
Holdings Group Limited (the “Vendor”), Mr. Wang Guoju, as
guarantor and beneficial owner of the entire issued share
capital of the Vendor, China Era, as a guarantor for the
Vendor, entered into the agreement (the “Agreement”) in
relation to proposed acquisition of 100% equity interest in the
Totalbuild Investments Group (Hong Kong) Limited
("Totalbuild Investments”). Totalbuild Investments holds the
entire issued share capital of China Era which has entered into
the Petroleum Contract with CNPC as disclose in note 16.

On 3 January 2011, all the conditions of the acquisition of the
first designated area of the Akemomu Gas Field (the "First
Designated Area”) and the entire issued share capital (the
“Acquisition”) of Totalbuild Investments and its subsidiaries

(the "Totalbuild Investments Group”) have been fulfilled.

As a result of completion of the Acquisition and the First
Designated Area, the Tranche 1 consideration in the sum of
HK$2,558,000,000 was paid by the Company with Tranche 1
convertible notes of HK$2,558,000,000 at the conversion
price of HK$0.168 each, to the Vendor including the shortfall
amount of HK$1,279,000,000 which was deposited with an
escrow agent pursuant to the Agreement. The sale loan
consideration payable by the Company in the sum of
HK$906,299,000 was satisfied by deducting the deposit in the
sum of HK$804,000,000 and with the balance of
HK$102,299,000 to be settled in cash or otherwise agreed.

China Energy Development Holdings Limited - &1 ElgE/RFZEER B R AR

24.

R EE

RZZZNF—A=+=8 " &KQF] - &4l
BEERBRARDTEFDRTEEL A
(ERBEH ZERARBEF2BEEHITRA
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N BRERBELAREEER(BB)ERAD
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BETRA - M BEFRERBEAEERT
ST EBEH (K16 FTHE) ©

RZZTF——F—HA=B  KERMREARR
AzE—HEE((F—HEmR ) ki
BAREREMBAR(HAKREER] 2
2HEBTERATKESER] 2ME KT
EEEMK °

BRTEXREEFERE—BEHE - AR
RIEIREREIRE0.168BILAE HETH
—#£2,558,000,000%8 7 7 AT IR 4K - A
{4 8 — ik X {8 2,558,000,000 7% 7t (B 1
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24. Convertible Notes (Continued)

According to the Agreement, the shortfall amount of
HK$1,279,000,000 convertible notes (“Shortfall Notes”)
should only be released to the Vendor upon the Company
having received a written certificate issued by the competent
evaluator confirming that the First Designated Area be
evaluated on the basis of unrisked economic evaluation on or
before 31 May 2015 (the “Relevant Period”). No such written
certificate was received by the Company on or before 31 May
2015. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Shortfall Notes
have been returned to the Company for cancellation. During
the year ended 31 December 2015, a gain of HK$92,459,000
was recognised in profit or loss, and approximately
HK$1,309,405,000 related to equity component of the
convertible notes have been transferred from convertible
notes reserve to accumulated losses as the result of the

cancellation of convertible notes.

In addition, according to the Agreement, the Group is not
entitled to the benefits and interests of the second designated
area in the Akemomu Gas Field. A separate shareholders’
approval will be required for the Acquisition of the second
designated area by issuing additional convertible notes of not
more than HK$7,442,000,000 subjected to the fulfillment of
certain conditions as stipulated in the Agreement within the

Relevant Period.

The Tranche 1 zero coupon convertible notes with principal
amount of HK$2,558,000,000 with maturity in 30 years was
issued on 3 January 2011. The convertible notes do not bear
any interest and are freely transferable, provided that where
the convertible notes are intended to be transferred to a
connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Group (other than the associates of the note holder) such
transfer shall comply with the requirements under the Listing

Rules and/or requirements imposed by the SEHK, if any.

24.

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
—E—AaF+=-A=+—H

RS #)

RIEZ s - Z£%1,279,000,0007%8 7T 2 7]
BREER(ZEERDEITREARAFER
MEFHERME L EEEEERE BT
EER-T—RFAA=+—8=%zm(AE
A AR ) AR 45 [ B A T A L AT A 7%
FARE - AATR -_E—RERA=1+—
Hekz i EE_EEEEEE - REZD
B2E  ZEZEERCERLBARELE - &
EZE-AF+ZA=+—HLFE XA
AEFHEITRAREEMRBRER RS
92,459,000/ 7T - AR E B E w0 8RS
2 #91,309,405,000 7% 7T E B Al #2 % iR 2
Bz RS -

SN - ARIEZ R - A B R
AREE TR 2 e ki - KA
HRER Z B IERA 2B T REBREIT TR
i%7,442,000,000 7 7T 2 B8 S AT #A AR 32 4% DA
W — 15 E @ - AR IS B S R L
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24. Convertible Notes (Continued)

136

The noteholders may at any time during the 30 years from the
issue date convert the whole or part of the principal amount
of the convertible notes into new ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.168 per share,
provided that (i) no conversion rights attached to the
convertible notes may be exercised, to the extent that
following such exercise, a holder of the convertible notes and
parties acting in concert with it, taken together, will directly or
indirectly, control or be interested in 30% or more of the
entire issued shares of the Company (or in such percentage of
the issued share capital of the Company as may from time to
time be specified in the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and
Mergers as being the level for triggering a mandatory general
offer); and (ii) no holder of the convertible notes shall exercise
the conversion right attached to the convertible notes held by
such holders if immediately after such conversion, the public
float of the shares fall below the minimum public float
requirement stipulated under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules as
required by the SEHK. The conversion price of HK$0.168 per
share is subject to adjustment for consolidation, sub-division
or re-classification of shares, capital reduction, rights issues
and other events which have diluting effects on the issued

share capital of the Company.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
component were determined at the issuance of the
convertible notes. The fair value of the liability component,
included in the non-current liabilities, was calculated using a
market interest rate of equivalent non-convertible notes. The
effective interest rate of the liabilities component is 11% and
the interest expenses will be charged to income statement
over the loan periods. The equity component of the
convertible notes, representing the difference of the fair value
of the convertible notes and the fair value of the liabilities
component, was included in the owner’s equity and denoted

as convertible notes reserves.
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24. Convertible Notes (Continued) 24. AIRRERE (#)
The movement of the principal amount, liability component HMREBERCHE  BENY RERHS 2
and equity component of the convertible notes are as follows: g

Carrying amount

REE
Liability Equity
component component
E8E&EDD ERBD
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January 2014 R-Z—mFE—HF—H 122,256 2,005,233
Interest expenses FEMAX 13,228 =
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 RZZ—NF+-A=+—HXK
—ET—H%—H—H 135,484 2,005,233
Interest expenses B 9,209 =
Cancellation of convertible notes R T R (92,459) (1,309,405)
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—RF+=-_A=+—H 52,234 695,828
No convertible notes have been converted during the years BE_Z-OAFR-_ZT-—NOF+-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. HIEFE - WERRERERR -
The convertible notes with outstanding principal amount of RZFE-—AER-F-—ME+-A=+—
HK$679,670,000 and HK$1,958,670,000 as at 31 December B IREEEIARAEBEASENAR
2015 and 2014 respectively have maturity date falling 30 679,670,0007 JT & 1,958,670,0007% JT -
years from the date of issue on 3 January 2011. mEMERFETARM=_F——F—A=R)

REDm="1% -
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25.

26.

138

Share Capital 25. RA&
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mF
Number Amount Number Amount
of shares of shares
BRBEE ] B EE |
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTAET
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &M E{&0.055 T
2 ik
At 1 January and 31 December ®—H—A & 25,000,000,000 1,250,000 25,000,000,000 1,250,000
T-ZA=+-H
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each & RREE0.057%8 1.2 Zi@Mk
At 1 January R—HA—H 9,505,344,000 475,267 7,921,120,000 396,056
Issue of share capital (note i) BITRRA (Brati) - - 1,584,224,000 79,211

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 9,505,344,000 475,267 9,505,344,000 475,267

Notes: Btat -

(i) On 18 July 2014, 1,584,224,000 shares were issued at (i) RZZE-—MFLA+N\B ABIE=H
HK$0.101 each to an independent third party at a total 2 & 01018 T 317 1,584,224,000 A i
consideration of HK$160,006,624. 5+ #R(E A 160,006,624 BT °

Share Option Scheme 26. IR HERTE

Under the terms of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
adopted conditionally by the Company on 25 June 2013, the
directors of the Company may, at its discretion, grant options
to the directors, employees and consultants of the Company

and its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.
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26. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
associates are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
option granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within 12 months period, are subject

to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during the period commencing
immediately after the date on which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted and expiring on a date to be
notified by the directors to each grantee which shall not be
more than 10 years from the date on which the option is
deemed to be granted and accepted. According to the
Scheme, there is no provision requiring a minimum holding
period before an option may be exercised. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance on grant of

an option under the Scheme.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the SEHK
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of
the share options; (ii) the average SEHK closing price of the
Company'’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value of

the Company's shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends

or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No shares options were granted and exercised during the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

26.
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27. Holding Company Statement of Financial 27. ERRQRAPBMR K

Position
2015 2014
—E—FEF —Z=—OF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
B 5T FE&T FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB AT 2R 1,972,708 3,565,978
1,972,708 3,565,978
Current assets REEE
Financial assets held for trading RIEEEZSRMERE 68,442 1,171
Other receivables, deposits Hh FEUCRRIR
and prepayments HESSENE e 1,609 49
Cash and bank balances RNe RIBITES 156,784 170,071
226,835 171,291
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HoAth & < 5RIR e JE AT FRIE 8,000 5,780
Amount due to a shareholder FEN —ZIRER B 40,402 40,402
48,402 46,182
Net current assets REBEEEE 178,433 125,109
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERBREBEE 2,151,141 3,691,087
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Convertible notes g &8 52,234 135,484
777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 52,234 135,484
Net assets BEZE 2,098,907 3,555,603
Equity s
Share capital R Ax 25 475,267 475,267
Reserves B 28 1,623,640 3,080,336
Total equity @ 2,098,907 3,555,603

The financial statement was approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2016.

Zhao Guogiang

EFEgN T R"F=A=+—HB#LERK

RTEZENHRE

Chui Kwong Kau

Director Director
E3 E
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28. Reserves of the Company 28. AN E#E
Contributed Share Convertible Accumulated
surplus premium notes reserve losses Total
BEARERBE ROEE TRREERE 2iER #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR THT THT FTHT THT
(note (a) (note (b)) (note (c))
(P37E () (Hi7E (b)) (M7 (o)
Balance at 1 January 2014 RZZE—mF
—R—HZ&% 91,349 1,598,392 2,005,233 (667,274) 3,027,700
Loss and total comprehensive  EERAFE
income for the year FENEER = s = (28,159) (28,159)
Issue of share capital BT - 80,795 = = 80,795
Balance at 31 December 2014 —T-mF
+TZA=+—HZ&® 91,349 1,679,187 2,005,233 (695,433) 3,080,336
Loss and total comprehensive BERREE
income for the year FENELE - - - (1,456,696) (1,456,696)
Cancellation of convertible notes 5 $5ATRIRE I (f1:£24)
(Note 24) - - (1,309,405) 1,309,405 -
Balance at 31 December 2015 “T-RE
+ZRA=t+—Hz&% 91,349 1,679,187 695,828 (842,724) 1,623,640
Note: HiaE
(@)  The contributed surplus represents the difference between the (a) BEARABKRTIBE_ZTET_F—-H++

nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries and the value of
the underlying assets of the subsidiaries pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation on 17 January 2002.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company under certain circumstances. It represents the excess
of the nominal value of shares issued by the Company.

The convertible notes reserve represents the equity component
of the convertible notes issued (i.e. option to convert the note
into share capital).

HASBEEAR  AUARBHRBEARZE
BITRAM BT 2 AR AR 2 EE K%M
BRRZIAHEEERE ZER °

b) REFEFEAFEZHRTE  RODEER
EETHERTADKTFARBBRRE o KD
mEREHARRDBEITRMOEEZ B

(€  AlEf

RERRECBETIREREZE
(VA BB ERA 2R 2 -

an
&
=B
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29. Commitments 29. EiE
(@) Operating lease commitments (a) REHERE
The Group leases certain of its staff quarters, offices and AREERBE AT A EHO 2B
warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease AETEIGBE MAEREE M
arrangements with lease terms ranging from one to two BR—ZEZMELF -RT-—HFR
years. At 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group had “E-EFE+-_A=t—RH  F~&£H
total future minimum lease payments under non- BEBER T HIFERH 2 A HHE &
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: BHOZRARENSEHSERS
2015 2014
i —TmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTRT TET
Within one year R—FR 3,423 2,270
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ E-FZFhF (BIEERME) 4,000 34
7,423 2,304
(b) Capital commitments (b) BEAEE
2015 2014
— —E-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted but not provided ERTRMERH T 5 R
for in respect of:
— exploration and evaluation — HEEFEAX
expenditures 141,254 148,436
— capital contributions in a subsidiary — $EARIEE 123,900 -
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30. Related and Connected Party Transactions 30. ABRBAEALRS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, ARREEBRARBBEMALZHBER
which are related parties of the Company, have been ETZRPERGRARA KL IEEMK
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. FIFEBRER - RS IRREAM A D BWERE SN -
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, NGB H IR E R B N F 7 B N RE A
the Group had the following material transactions with related TAEUTERRS

and connected parties which are not members of the Group:

Key management personnel remuneration EE‘E‘EAEMQ
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, FTAEEFZEERBASZHE (BERAE
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as Lﬁé%iﬁZﬂzgﬁ)Tﬂié&%%ﬁaﬂﬂ%#ﬁi
disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. BiEE12°
2015 2014
—E-hf —E-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Rental expenses paid to related BB A RIE R (At ()
companies (note(i)) - 555!
Sales of food to related companies (note(ii)  [A@8 2 B8 & R & (A4 (i) - 37,105
Note: Hiat
(i) The rental expenses for the year ended 31 December 2014 (i) BHE-ZT—NF+-A=+—HLFEZ
were paid to: BRI T
Speedy Fortune Limited and Hon Po Investment Limited of KREERABDREEREFRAR A
which directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company have a AAETHBRRZERHEF Bl -
beneficial interest. These directors are namely Chan Nun Chiu, ZEEERRER  MEE RELE R
Lim Mai Tak, Grace, Cheung To Seng, Ng Wing Po and She KR RRE - e FAZ DB REAREER
Hing Chiu. The rental expenses were based on the tenancy FErI 2 HE Mt E -

agreements signed with the Group.
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30. Related and Connected Party Transactions 30. ABRBAEALRS (#)
(Continued)
Note: st -
(i) The Group has the sales transactions with the following related (i) BE-_Z—NF+-_A=+—HLFE"
companies during the year ended 31 December 2014. AEEBE TS| @B ARETIHERS -
2015 2014
—E-FF —T-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Bestcase Hong Kong Limited BEEBERAF = 4,145
Dragongem Development Limited EZBRERARAR - 5,412
Hon Po Group (Lobster King) Limited EEEE(EIBAT)ABRAT - 7,703
Jing Hua (Allied) Limited RE(BE)ARAR - 6,497
Twin Star Investments Limited CERERRAF - 3,348
Metropolis Harbour View Chinese SRFARADA
Cuisine Limited — 5,387
Ocean Grace Investments Limited LHRERRAF - 4,613
- 37,105
The directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company namely Chan KRARETHEB AR ZES (BIFRAER - A
Nun Chiu, Lim Mai Tak, Grace, Cheung To Seng, Ng Wing Po and EECREE  RKEERESEH) R LEMA
She Hing Chiu have beneficial interests in the above companies. As RMAEDER - Atk ZE R AAE
a result, these companies are related companies of the Group. i) /N I
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31. Litigation

(a)

In January 2014, two independent parties (the
"Plaintiffs”) commenced a legal action against (a)two
substantial shareholders of the Company (the “First and
Second Defendants”) and (b) the Company, whereby
the Plaintiffs alleged that the First and Second
Defendants have agreed to transfer convertible notes of
the Company in the principal sum of HK$106,820,000
("Disputed CN") to the Plaintiffs, but the Company
failed to recognise the transfer and failed to issue shares
in accordance with the Plaintiffs’ conversion instruction.
The Plaintiffs sought for total damages of
HK$106,820,000 and interests and related costs.

The Company filed defense on 12 March 2014 and
denied the claims made by the Plaintiffs. The
management of the Company made an assessment that
the litigation is unlikely to result in any material impact

on the financial position of the Company.

Reference is made to the announcements (the
Announcements”) of Company dated 7 June 2015, 17
June 2015, 25 June 2015, 29 June 2015 and 18 August
2015 in relation to, inter alia, the commencement of a
litigation in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in Totalbuild Investments Group (Hong Kong)
Limited (“Totalbuild Transaction”) in 2011 against the
vendor, Mr. Wang Guoju, UK Prolific Petroleum Group
Company Limited (“UK Prolific”), Mr. Wang Hanning
and other parties (the “Defendants”).

31.
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31. Litigation (Continued)

146

(b)

(Continued)

As disclosed in the above mentioned announcements,
the directors of the Company was informed that Mr.
Wang Guoju was formally charged by prosecution
authorities in China for (inter alia) illegal operation crime
(the “Charge”), possibly involving allegations about
improper conduct during the obtaining of the Petroleum
Contract. After taking legal advice as to the remedies
which should be sought by the Company to uphold its
right, on 17 June 2015 (Cayman Islands time), the
Company commenced legal proceedings in the Grand
Court of the Cayman lIslands (the “Litigation”) against
various parties including Totalbuild Investments
Holdings Group Limited (the Vendor of Totalbuild
Transaction), Mr. Wang Guoju (the guarantor of the
Vendor), UK Prolific (the allottee of Tranche | Convertible
Notes as nominated by the Vendor) and Mr. Wang
Hanning (owner and controller of UK Prolific), whereby
the Company seeks, inter alia, a declaration that the
acquisition agreement in relation to Totalbuild
Transaction (the “Totalbuild Agreement”) is void or,
alternatively, the Company is allowed to rescind the
Totalbuild Agreement, and other remedies including
damages, on the basis that, inter alia, the Charge casts
serious doubt over: (a) the warranties given by the
Vendor and Mr. Wang Guoju in relation to the
Petroleum Contract upon which the Company relied in
entering into the Totalbuild Transaction; and (b) the
validity of the Totalbuild Agreement by which the
Company issued Tranche | Convertible Notes to UK
Prolific, and as a consequence UK Prolific’s entitlement

to any shareholding in the Company.
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31. Litigation (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

On 23 June 2015 (Cayman Islands time), upon the
Company'’s application, the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands made an injunction order (the “Injunction
Order”) that until the determination of the Company’s
Writ of Summons relating to the Litigation or further

order of the Court (inter alia):

i. The Defendants must not (a) dispose of, transfer,
deal in, or diminish the value of, or (b) exercise any
rights or powers (including but not limited to
voting rights in general and/or extraordinary
meetings) in respect of, and/or (c) enter into any
agreement to effect the above, in relation to 1.86
billion issued shares in the Company, being part of
the consideration for the Totalbuild Agreement;
and

ii.  The Defendants must not complete and/or procure
the conversion of the convertible notes
representing 13,366,190,476 underlying shares in
the Company, being part of the consideration for

the Totalbuild Agreement.

On 13 August 2015 (Cayman Islands time), upon the
Company’s undertaking not to allot, issue or deal with
additional shares or to make or grant offers, agreements
or options in relation to the issuance of any additional
shares or securities (including any derivative interests in
the shares) without leave of the Court until the
conclusion of the present trial relating to the Litigation
or further order, the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands
made an order that the Injunction Order be continued
until conclusion of the present trial relating to the
Litigation or further order, and the Company’s costs of
and occasioned by UK Prolific's Summons be paid by
UK Prolific on the standard basis.

e TS ERARMEE
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31. Litigation (Continued) 31. FEd)

(b) (Continued) (b)

As the Litigation is only at a preliminary stage, the
directors of the Company are not in the position to
assess the possible impact on the Group’s oil and gas

operation and financial position.

Taking into account the legal opinion, the Group may
not be able to exercise its right under the Petroleum
Contract if Mr. Wang Guoju is charged improper
conduct during the obtaining of the Petroleum Contract

which might render the contract voidable.

(&)

HRFAERRTBHEE - AR F
%ﬂiam¥1$;TZJS§I/Elaﬂ%i‘%&ﬁM‘%
AR BETE -

EREZRER WEEERLEE
BRBEANRAETETAWHAIEK
ARSANRRER  MAKERY
AATEEABBL T 2R -

The directors of the Company will update shareholders RAREEHNEERHERFDZE
and the public on any material development of the MEBRERAITERAM  BHRR
Litigation by way of announcement if and when RRAFBAL
appropriate.
32. Capital Risk Management 32. EXEBER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are: AEEEREAZBEAR
o To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going . REALEEFELE  BERRR

concern, so that it continues to provide returns for

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

o To support the Group's stability and growth; and .

o To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the .

Group's risk management capability.
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32.

Kict

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Capital Risk Management (Continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company only, comprising share
capital and reserves of HK$475,267,000 (2014:
HK$475,267,000) and HK$1,620,833,000 (2014:
HK$3,069,099,000) respectively as at 31 December 2015.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not
adopted any formal dividend policy. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt. For details of
cash flow forecast carried out by the directors, please refer to
note 3(b) “Basis of measurement and going concern

assumption”.
Financial Risk Management

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its

equity investments in other entities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
in the normal course of the Group's business are credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price

risk.

32.

33.

e TS ERARMEE

31 December 2015
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

150

These risks are limited by the Group's financial management

policies and practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Except for the
loan and interest receivables, the financial assets held
for trading and the other receivables and deposits that
were further explained in note 19, 20 and 21
respectively, the Group principal financial assets are
bank balances placed with reputable banks. Given their
high credit standing, management does not expect any
credit risk exposure for those bank balances. For credit
exposures to customers, Group management has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. For credit
exposures associated with the refundable deposits and
loan receivables, Group management had assessed the
credit quality of the debtors, taking into account their
financial position, their business developments and
other factors. In addition, the Group ensures that the

amount of the loan is within the limit set by the Group.

Liquidity risk

The Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$171,525,000 at 31 December 2015. The directors
have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow
forecast of the Group for the eighteen months ending
30 June 2017 and other measures taken by the
management as referred to in notes 3(b) to the financial
statements, and consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for the twelve months from 31
December 2015.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are within
one year as at the end of each reporting period, except
for convertible notes as disclosed in note 24 which is
interest free with maturity date over one year. The
contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
equal their carrying amounts as shown on the statements
of financial position as the impact of discounting is not
significant, except for convertible notes with the
principal undiscounted cash flows amount of
HK$679,670,000 and HK$1,958,670,000 as at 31
December 2015 and 2014, but stated at the carrying
amount of HK$52,234,000 and HK$135,484,000 as at 31
December 2015 and 2014 respectively as disclosed in
note 24. These zero coupon convertible notes have
maturity date falling 30 years from the date of issue on 3

January 2011.

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing financial
liabilities, and the financial assets are bank balances held
with financial institutions. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of

changes in market interest rate.

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group's exposure to market risk for changes in foreign
currency exchange rates relates primarily to certain inter-
company balances in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity to which the
balances relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is

primarily Hong Kong Dollar.

e TS ERARMEE
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

152

(d)

Currency risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a 3%
weakening/strengthen of the Hong Kong dollars against
Renminbi would have decrease/increase loss before
income tax by HK$20,082,000 (2014: HK$19,828,000).
This sensitivity analysis assumes that all other variables,

in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity instruments classified as trading securities.

All of these investments are listed.

The Group's listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong. Except for investments which
have been suspended from trading, the decisions to buy
and sell trading securities are based on daily monitoring
of the performance of individual securities compared to
that of the Index and other industry indicators, as well as
the Group's liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified
in terms of industry distribution, in accordance with the

limits set by the Group.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of
reporting period for those trading securities which are
not suspended from trading. If equity price had been 5%
higher, the loss for the year ended 31 December 2015
would have been decreased by HK$3,377,000 (2014:
HK$4,000). Had the relevant equity price been 5%
lower, there would be an equal and opposite impact on

the loss.
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33. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 33. MBRREE®)
(f)  Fair value estimation fH AFEEMG
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time N EEGRE 4 ERERE
and based on relevant market information and i WAHBEmSERKE@ESRT
information about the financial instruments. These BB BIRE - 2S5 At B EENT
estimates are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties B PRIEETEZREXRAAGE
and matters of significant judgement and therefore H - FEEERETE - REEZE T
cannot be determined with precision. Changes in NG EAEET -

assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

34. Financial Assets and Liabilities 4. tRMEERERE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and rEEeREERABR _ZT—RAFR-F
liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2015 and 2014 may —ME+-A=+—HBERZREERHE
be categorised as follows: LU
2015 2014
—E-AF —T-mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets ETRMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BATEERERSR
profit or loss ZEMEE 68,442 1,171
Loan and receivables ER R ERGRIE
(including cash and bank balances) (BIER S RIEITER) 265,683 384,191
Financial liabilities tHAas
Financial liabilities measured at R KA E
amortised cost ZEmasE 559,414 654,665
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A FMBHNE

For the year ended 31 December
BEF—A=F—HIFE

Results 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
E4 —E-HF —ET-NF —T-—=F —T-——F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEx FTAT FAET FAT FAET

Revenue Wz 7,399 37,261 36,687 61,951 73,876
Loss before income tax BRFTEH A EE (1,283,919) (40,240) (48,533) (41,483) (127,164)
Income tax credits FiE iR R 2,483 3,586 4,314 5,138 4,328
Loss before non-controlling REtIEIERE R A B 1R

interests (1,281,436) (36,654) (44,219) (36,345) (122,836)
Non-controlling interests JEIERR M - - - o _
Loss for the year REFEE (1,281,436) (36,654) (44,219) (36,345) (122,836)
Assets and liabilities 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
EERAR ZB-EF —T-WNF —T-=f —T-—F —T——F

HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TAET TAT TAT

Total assets BERE 2,656,320 4,199,837 4,233,272 4,015,268 4,048,378
Total liabilities RfERE (559,467)  (654,718)  (725,328)  (578,521)  (604,235)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R A (753) (753) (753) (753) (753)
Attributable to owners of AARHEE AENL

the Company 2,096,100 3,544,366 3,507,191 3,435,994 3,443,390
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